BOWNE & CO INC Form 424B2 January 12, 2004

#### **Table of Contents**

**PROSPECTUS** 

Filed Pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2) Registration No. 333-109810

# Bowne & Co., Inc. \$75,000,000

5.00% Convertible Subordinated Debentures due October 1, 2033

This prospectus relates to resales of our 5.00% Convertible Subordinated Debentures due October 1, 2033 issued in a private offering in September 2003 and 4,058,445 shares of our common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures, plus an indeterminate number of additional shares of common stock that may be issued from time to time upon conversion of the debentures as a result of conversion rate adjustments, in circumstances described in this prospectus.

The debentures and the shares of common stock may be sold from time to time by and for the account of the selling securityholders named in this prospectus or in supplements to this prospectus. The selling securityholders may sell all or a portion of the debentures or the shares of common stock from time to time in market transactions, in negotiated transactions or otherwise, and at prices and on terms which will be determined by the then prevailing market price for the debentures or at negotiated prices directly or through a broker or brokers, who may act as agent or as principal or by a combination of such methods of sale. See Plan of Distribution on page 55 for additional information on the methods of sale.

We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of the debentures or the shares of common stock offered by the selling securityholders. The selling securityholders will receive all proceeds from the sale of the debentures or the shares of common stock being registered in this registration statement.

The debentures will mature on October 1, 2033. You may convert the debentures into shares of our common stock prior to their maturity or their prior redemption or repurchase by us initially at a conversion rate of 54.1126 shares of common stock per each \$1,000 principal amount of debentures, which is equivalent to a conversion price of approximately \$18.48 per share (subject to adjustment in certain circumstances), under the following circumstances:

the sale price of our common stock reaches specified thresholds;

the trading price of a debenture falls below a specified threshold;

specified credit rating events with respect to the debentures occur;

we call the debentures for redemption; or

specified corporate transactions occur.

On January 8, 2004, the last reported sale price for the common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was \$14.17 per share. The common stock is listed under the symbol BNE.

The debentures bear interest at the rate of 5.00% per annum from September 24, 2003 until October 1, 2033. We will pay interest on the debentures on April 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing on April 1, 2004 until October 1, 2033, unless the debentures are earlier redeemed, repurchased or converted.

The debentures are subordinated in right of payment to all of our existing and future senior debt and effectively subordinated to all indebtedness and all liabilities of our subsidiaries. As of September 30, 2003, the aggregate amount of our outstanding senior debt, as defined in this prospectus, was \$113.9 million, and the aggregate amount of indebtedness and other liabilities of our subsidiaries was \$134.6 million. The debentures are issued only in denominations of \$1,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000.

On or after October 1, 2008 we have the option to redeem all or a portion of the debentures that have not been previously converted at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the debentures to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, up to, but not including the date of redemption.

On October 1, 2008, October 1, 2013, October 1, 2018, October 1, 2023 and October 1, 2028, or in the event of a Change in Control, as described in this prospectus, you may require us to repurchase all or a portion of your debentures at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the debentures plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, up to, but not including, the date of repurchase. We will pay cash for any debentures so repurchased on October 1, 2008. Repurchases made on October 1, 2013, October 1, 2018, October 1, 2023 and October 1, 2028 or upon a Change in Control may be made at our option in cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and common stock.

The debentures are evidenced by a global debenture deposited with a custodian for and registered in the name of a nominee of The Depository Trust Company. Except as described in this prospectus, beneficial interests in the global debenture are shown on, and transfers thereof will be effected only through, records maintained by The Depository Trust Company and its direct and indirect participants.

We do not intend to apply for listing of the debentures on any securities exchange or for inclusion of the debentures in any automated quotation system. The Debentures are eligible for trading in The Portal<sup>SM</sup> Market of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

Investing in the securities offered in this prospectus involves risks. See Risk Factors beginning on page 7 of this prospectus.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

January 9, 2004

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

**ADDITIONAL INFORMATION** 

**CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS** 

THE DEBENTURES

**SUMMARY HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION** 

**RISK FACTORS** 

**USE OF PROCEEDS** 

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK AND DIVIDEND POLICY

**DESCRIPTION OF THE DEBENTURES** 

**DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK** 

**SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS** 

RECENT AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING SENIOR INDEBTEDNESS

CERTAIN UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

**CERTAIN ERISA CONSIDERATIONS** 

**PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION** 

**LEGAL MATTERS** 

**INDEPENDENT AUDITORS** 

#### **Table of Contents**

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus and those documents incorporated by reference herein. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different information. This prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to purchase, the securities offered by this prospectus in any jurisdiction to or from any person to whom or from whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation of an offer in such jurisdiction. You should not assume that the information contained in this prospectus or any document incorporated by reference is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front cover of the applicable document. Neither the delivery of this prospectus nor any distribution of securities pursuant to this prospectus shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the information set forth or incorporated into this prospectus by reference or in our affairs since the date of this prospectus.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Additional Information	ii
Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements	ii
The Debentures	1
Summary Historical Financial Information	5
Risk Factors	7
Use of Proceeds	18
Price Range of Common Stock and Dividend Policy	19
Description of the Debentures	20
Description of Capital Stock	43
Selling Securityholders	45
Recent Amendments to Existing Senior Indebtedness	47
Certain United States Federal Income Tax Consequences	48
Certain ERISA Considerations	53
Plan of Distribution	55
Legal Matters	56
Independent Auditors	56

As used in this prospectus, the terms Bowne, the Company, we, our and us refer to Bowne & Co., Inc. and its subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires. When we refer to common stock throughout this prospectus, we include all rights attaching to our common stock under any stockholder rights plan then in effect.

#### **Table of Contents**

### ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

This prospectus is part of a Registration Statement on Form S-3 that we filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Bowne files annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any document Bowne files at the SEC s public reference room at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-888-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference rooms. Our SEC filings are also available to the public from the SEC s Web site at <a href="https://www.bowne.com">www.bowne.com</a>. However, the information on Bowne s web site does not constitute a part of this prospectus. The web site addresses of the SEC and Bowne are intended to be inactive textual references only.

In this document, we incorporate by reference the information we file with the SEC, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring to that information. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be a part of this prospectus, and information later filed with the SEC will update and supersede this information. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below and any future filings made with the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 after the date of this prospectus and until the selling securityholders have sold all the debentures or common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures (excluding any information furnished under either Item 9 or Item 12 of any Current Report on Form 8-K):

Bowne s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002,

Bowne s Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 9, 2003,

Bowne s Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2003, for the fiscal quarter and six-month period ended June 30, 2003, and for the fiscal quarter and nine-month period ended September 30, 2003,

Bowne s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 8, 2003, August 12, 2003, September 11, 2003, September 19, 2003, and October 30, 2003, and

The description of our common stock set forth in our Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-3, filed on August 13, 1998.

You may request a copy of these filings at no cost by writing us at 345 Hudson Street, New York, New York 10014, or telephoning us at (212) 886-0614, Attention: Treasurer.

If at any time we are not subject to the information requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, we will furnish to holders of debentures, holders of common stock issued upon conversion thereof and prospective purchasers thereof the information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act in order to permit compliance with Rule 144A in connection with resales of such debentures and common stock issued on conversion thereof.

You should rely only upon the information provided in this prospectus or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different information. You should not assume that the information contained in this prospectus or any document incorporated by reference is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front cover of the applicable document.

#### CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus includes and incorporates by reference forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are included throughout this prospectus, and in the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including in the sections entitled Summary and Risk Factors and relate to, among other things, projections of revenues, earnings, earnings per share, cash flows, capital expenditures, working capital or other financial items, output, expectations regarding the acquisitions, discussions of estimated future revenue enhancements, potential dispositions and cost savings. These statements also relate to our business strategy, goals and expectations concerning our market position, future operations, margins, profitability, liquidity and capital resources. We

ii

#### **Table of Contents**

have used the words anticipate, believe, could, estimate, expect, intend, may, plan, predict, project, will and similar terms forward-looking statements in this prospectus and in the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

Although we believe the assumptions upon which these forward-looking statements are based are reasonable, any of these assumptions could prove to be inaccurate and the forward-looking statements based on these assumptions could be incorrect. Our operations involve risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside our control, and any one of which, or a combination of which, could materially affect our results of operations and whether the forward-looking statements ultimately prove to be correct. Accordingly, these forward-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by reference to the factors described in Risk Factors, elsewhere in this prospectus and in the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

Actual results and trends in the future may differ materially from those suggested or implied by the forward-looking statements depending on a variety of factors including, but not limited to:

general economic or capital market conditions affecting the demand for transactional financial printing or our other services;

competition based on pricing and other factors;

fluctuations in the cost of paper, other raw materials and fuel;

changes in postal rates and postal regulations;

seasonal fluctuations in overall demand for our services;

changes in the printing market;

our ability to integrate the operations of acquisitions into our operations;

the financial condition of our clients:

our ability to continue to obtain improved operating efficiencies;

our ability to continue to develop new services for our clients;

changes in the rules and regulations to which we are subject and the cost of complying with these rules and regulations, including environmental and health and welfare benefit regulations;

changes in the rules and regulations to which our clients are subject, such as the recent implementation of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which may result in decreased capital markets activity as issuers weigh enhanced liabilities against the benefits of conducting securities offerings;

the effects of war or acts of terrorism affecting the overall business climate;

loss or retirement of key executives or employees; and

natural events and acts of God such as earthquakes, fires or floods.

Many of these factors are described in greater detail in our filings with the SEC, including those incorporated by reference in this prospectus. All future written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the previous statements. We undertake no obligation to update any information contained herein or to publicly release the results of any revisions to any forward-looking statements that may be made to reflect events or circumstances that occur, or that we become aware of, after the date of this prospectus.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### THE DEBENTURES

This prospectus relates to resales of \$75,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the debentures and 4,058,445 shares of our common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures, plus an indeterminate number of additional shares of common stock that may be issued from time to time upon conversion of the debentures as a result of conversion rate adjustments, in circumstances described in this prospectus.

We issued and sold \$75,000,000 aggregate original principal amount of the debentures on September 24, 2003, in a private offering to Goldman, Sachs & Co., Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. (the Initial Purchasers ). We have been advised by the Initial Purchasers that the debentures were resold in transactions which were exempt from registration requirements of the Securities Act to persons reasonably believed by the Initial Purchasers to be qualified institutional buyers (as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act) in reliance on Rule 144A.

The following is a brief summary of the terms of the debentures. For a more complete description of the debentures, see the section entitled Description of the Debentures in this prospectus.

Issuer Bowne & Co., Inc.

Debentures \$75,000,000 aggregate principal amount of convertible subordinated debentures due October 1, 2033.

Issue Price 100% of the principal amount of each debenture.

Maturity October 1, 2033, unless earlier redeemed, repurchased or converted.

Ranking The debentures are our unsecured obligations and are subordinated in right of payment to all of our

existing and future senior debt (as defined in Description of Debentures Subordination), which currently includes \$115.0 million under our revolving credit facility and \$60.0 million of senior notes, among other indebtedness. The indenture for the debentures does not restrict the amount of senior debt or other indebtedness that we or any of our subsidiaries can incur. At September 30, 2003, we had \$113.9 million of Senior Debt outstanding. See Description of the Debentures Subordination.

The debentures are not guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries, and accordingly, the debentures are effectively subordinated to the existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities of our subsidiaries,

including trade creditors. As of September 30, 2003, our subsidiaries had \$134.6 million of indebtedness and other liabilities (excluding intercompany debt).

Interest 5.00% per year on the principal amount, payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year,

beginning on April 1, 2004.

Conversion Rights Holders may surrender debentures for conversion into shares of our common stock at the conversion

rate then in effect under any of the following circumstances:

during any conversion period before October 1, 2032, if the sale price of our common stock for at least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive trading-day period ending on the first day of such

conversion period is more than 120% of the conversion price on the first day of the conversion period;

1

#### **Table of Contents**

at any time after the sale price of our common stock on any date after October 1, 2032 is more than 120% of the conversion price then in effect;

during the five consecutive business day period following any five consecutive trading-day period in which the average of the trading prices for a debenture was less than 95% of the average sale price of our common stock during such five trading-day period multiplied by the conversion rate then in effect;

at any time that, and only for so long as, the credit rating assigned by either Moody s Investor Service, Inc. ( Moody s ) or Standard & Poor s Ratings Group ( S&P ), if any has been assigned, is reduced at least two notches below the initial credit rating assigned by such rating agency (Caa1 by Moody s and B- by S&P);

if we call the debentures for redemption; or

upon the occurrence of specified corporate transactions described under Description of the Debentures Conversion Rights .

For each debenture surrendered for conversion, the holder will receive 54.1126 shares of our common stock. This is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately \$18.48 per share of our common stock. The conversion rate may be adjusted under certain circumstances, but will not be adjusted for accrued interest.

Redemption of Debentures at Our Option

On or after October 1, 2008, we may redeem for cash all or part of the debentures at any time, upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior notice, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the debentures to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, up to, but not including, the date of redemption. For more information about our purchase of the debentures at the option of the holder, see Description of the Debentures Redemption by Bowne .

Purchase of Debentures at Your Option

Each holder has the right to require us to repurchase all or any portion of that holder s debentures on each of October 1, 2008, October 1, 2013, October 1, 2018, October 1, 2023 and October 1, 2028, at a purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of debentures to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, up to, but not including, the date of repurchase. We will pay the repurchase price for any debentures repurchased on October 1, 2008 in cash. We may choose to pay the repurchase price of any debentures repurchased on October 1, 2013, October 1, 2018, October 1, 2023 or October 1, 2028 in cash, shares of our common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock. If we elect to pay all or a portion of the repurchase price in shares of our common stock, we will value the common stock at 95% of the average sale price for the five trading days immediately preceding and including the third trading day prior to the repurchase date. For more information about our

2

#### **Table of Contents**

purchase of the debentures at the option of the holder, see Description of the Debentures Repurchase Rights .

Change in Control

If we undergo a Change in Control (as defined in Description of the Debentures Repurchase at the Option of Holders Upon a Change in Control ), you will have the right, at your option, to require us to repurchase any or all of your debentures at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the debentures to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, to, but excluding, the date of repurchase. We may choose to pay the repurchase price of any debentures repurchased in cash, shares of our common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock. If we elect to pay all or a portion of the repurchase price in shares of our common stock, we will value the common stock at 95% of the average sale price for the five trading days immediately preceding and including the third trading day prior to the repurchase date. For more information about our purchase of the debentures at the option of the holder, see Description of the Debentures Repurchase at the Option of Holders Upon a Change in Control .

Use of Proceeds

We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the debentures or the shares of common stock offered by this prospectus. The selling securityholders will receive all proceeds from the sale of the debentures or the sale of the shares of common stock offered by this prospectus.

Registration Rights

Pursuant to a registration rights agreement we agreed, subject to specified conditions, to file with the SEC, within 90 days after the date the debentures are originally issued and to use reasonable best efforts to cause to become effective within 210 days after the date the debentures are originally issued, a shelf registration statement with respect to the resale of the debentures and the sale of the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures. If we fail to comply with some of our obligations under the registration rights agreement, additional interest will be payable on the debentures and additional cash amounts will be payable with respect to the common stock issuable upon conversion or, if applicable, repurchase of the debentures. See Description of the Debentures Registration Rights .

**PORTAL Trading** 

The debentures are eligible for trading in The Portal<sup>SM</sup> Market of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

Listing of Common Stock

The common stock issuable upon conversion or repurchase of the debentures is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol  $\ BNE$ .

Governing Law

The indenture, the debentures and the registration rights agreement are governed by the laws of the State of New York.

Global Debentures; Book Entry System

The debentures are issued only in fully registered form without interest coupons and in denominations of \$1,000 and greater multiples. The debentures are evidenced by one or more global debentures deposited with the trustee for the debentures, as custodian for The

3

### **Table of Contents**

Depository Trust Company, or DTC. Beneficial interests in the global debenture are shown on, and transfers of those beneficial interests can only be made through, records maintained by DTC and its participants. See Description of the Debentures Form, Denomination, Transfer, Exchange and Book-Entry Procedures .

Risk Factors

You should read the Risk Factors section, beginning on page 7 of this prospectus, so that you understand the risks associated with an investment in the debentures.

We were established in 1775, incorporated in 1909, reincorporated in New York in 1968 and reincorporated again in Delaware in 1998. Our principal executive office is located at 345 Hudson Street, New York, New York 10014, and our telephone number is (212) 924-5500. Our website is www.bowne.com.

4

#### **Table of Contents**

### SUMMARY HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following table sets forth certain of our summary historical condensed consolidated financial data. The summary historical financial information presented below for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002 and as of December 31, 2001 and 2002 was derived from our audited consolidated financial statements which are incorporated by reference in this prospectus. The financial data and information as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 and 2003 was derived from our unaudited financial statements which are also incorporated by reference in this prospectus. The financial data and information presented as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000 and as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 1998 and 1999 was derived from our audited financial statements that are not incorporated by reference in this prospectus. You should read this information in conjunction with Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and our consolidated financial statements which are incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

Expenses:     Cost of revenue			Years Ended December 31,									Nine Months Ended September 30,					
Note		1998		1998 1999 2000 2001 2002					2002		2002		2003				
Poperating Data   Revenue								ollar	s in thousand	- (2			(Unau	dite	1)		
Expenses:   Cost of revenue   (549,198)   (671,708)   (758,482)   (717,662)   (673,952)   (504,726)   (549,788)   (549,788)   (249,779)   (264,821)   (268,955)   (206,933)   (208,822)   (206,933)   (208,822)   (269,933)   (208,822)   (269,933)   (208,933)   (208,822)   (269,933)   (208,933)   (208,822)   (269,933)   (208,933)   (208,822)   (269,933)   (208,933)   (208,933)   (208,932)   (269,933)	Operating Data						(1)	<b>01141</b>	o in thousand	3)							
Cost of revenue   (549,198)   (671,708)   (758,482)   (717,662)   (673,952)   (504,726)   (549,786)	Revenue	\$	906,361	\$	1,072,729	\$	1,179,338	\$	1,054,631	\$	1,003,326	\$	767,107	\$	813,443		
Selling and administrative   (238,816)   (276,811)   (294,779)   (264,821)   (268,955)   (206,933)   (208,822)     Depreciation   (33,587)   (39,606)   (42,349)   (41,117)   (40,662)   (31,351)   (30,102)     Amortization   (4,485)   (7,023)   (7,318)   (8,001)   (2,017)   (1,290)   (2,736)     Restructuring charges, integration costs and asset impairment charges   (2,106)   (20,949)   (19,378)   (3,605)   (18,967)     (Loss) gain on sale of certain printing assets   (1,858)   15,369   14,869     Purchased in-process research and development and other charges   (9,025)   (800)     Operating income (loss)   71,250   77,581   74,304   (577)   18,620   38,960   3,035     Interest expense   (5,113)   (6,281)   (7,254)   (6,422)   (7,127)   (4,951)   (8,174)     Other income (expense), net   2,788   983   (1,635)   1,565   (1,993)   (224)   391     Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes   (31,486)   (30,220)   (28,145)   (2,281)   (9,145)   (14,527)   (466)     Income (loss) from continuing operations   \$3,7,439   \$42,063   \$3,7,270   \$7,715   \$355   \$19,258   \$5,204      Balance Sheet Data   Current assets   \$2,76,064   \$30,9439   \$314,508   \$264,698   \$261,833   \$304,636   \$296,585   Current liabilities   160,638   193,690   180,966   186,556   179,494   149,920   153,744   (29,77,244)   (2	Expenses:																
Selling and administrative   (238,816)   (276,811)   (294,779)   (264,821)   (268,955)   (206,933)   (208,822)     Depreciation   (33,587)   (39,606)   (42,349)   (41,117)   (40,662)   (31,351)   (30,102)     Amortization   (4,485)   (7,023)   (7,318)   (8,001)   (2,017)   (1,290)   (2,736)     Restructuring charges, integration costs and asset impairment charges   (2,106)   (20,949)   (19,378)   (3,605)   (18,967)     (Loss) gain on sale of certain printing assets   (1,858)   15,369   14,869     Purchased in-process research and development and other charges   (9,025)   (800)     Operating income (loss)   71,250   77,581   74,304   (577)   18,620   38,960   3,035     Interest expense   (5,113)   (6,281)   (7,254)   (6,422)   (7,127)   (4,951)   (8,174)     Other income (expense), net   2,788   983   (1,635)   1,565   (1,993)   (224)   391     Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes   (31,486)   (30,220)   (28,145)   (2,281)   (9,145)   (14,527)   (466)     Income (loss) from continuing operations   \$3,7,439   \$42,063   \$3,7,270   \$7,715   \$355   \$19,258   \$5,204      Balance Sheet Data   Current assets   \$2,76,064   \$30,9439   \$314,508   \$264,698   \$261,833   \$304,636   \$296,585   Current liabilities   160,638   193,690   180,966   186,556   179,494   149,920   153,744   (29,77,244)   (2	Cost of revenue		(549,198)		(671,708)		(758,482)		(717,662)		(673,952)		(504,726)		(549,782)		
administrative (238,816) (276,811) (294,779) (264,821) (268,955) (206,933) (208,822) Depreciation (33,587) (39,606) (42,349) (41,117) (40,662) (31,351) (30,103) Amortization (4,485) (7,023) (7,318) (8,001) (2,017) (1,290) (2,730) Restructuring charges, integration costs and asset impairment charges (2,106) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967) (20,949) (20,949) (20,949) (20,949) (20,949) (20,949) (20,949) (20,949) (20,949) (20,949) (20,949) (20,949) (20,949) (20,949) (20,948) (20,949) (20,9																	
Depreciation (33,587) (39,606) (42,349) (41,117) (40,662) (31,351) (30,103) (Amortization (4,485) (7,023) (7,318) (8,001) (2,017) (1,290) (2,730) (2,7	_		(238,816)		(276,811)		(294,779)		(264,821)		(268,955)		(206,933)		(208,822)		
Amortization (4,485) (7,023) (7,318) (8,001) (2,017) (1,290) (2,730) Restructuring charges, integration costs and asset impairment charges (2,106) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967) (1,858) gain on sale of certain printing assets (1,858) 15,369 14,869 4,889 4,889 Purchased in-process research and development and other charges (9,025) (800)  Operating income (loss) 71,250 77,581 74,304 (577) 18,620 38,960 3,035 (18,172) (1,172)	Depreciation		, , ,		(39,606)		(42,349)		(41,117)		` ' '		, , ,		(30,103)		
Restructuring charges, integration costs and asset impairment charges (2,106) (20,949) (19,378) (3,605) (18,967	•				(7,023)						(2,017)				(2,730)		
(Loss) gain on sale of certain printing assets Gain on sale of building Purchased in-process research and development and other charges  (9,025)  Operating income (loss) Interest expense (5,113) (6,281) Income (expense), net  2,788 983 (1,635) Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (889,25 1,565	Restructuring charges, integration costs and asset impairment		( ) /		(1)1						, , ,						
Certain printing assets							(2,106)		(20,949)		(19,378)		(3,605)		(18,967)		
Gain on sale of building Purchased in-process research and development and other charges (9,025) (800)  Operating income (loss) 71,250 77,581 74,304 (577) 18,620 38,960 3,035 Interest expense (5,113) (6,281) (7,254) (6,422) (7,127) (4,951) (8,174 Other income (expense), net 2,788 983 (1,635) 1,565 (1,993) (224) 391  Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 68,925 72,283 65,415 (5,434) 9,500 33,785 (4,744 Income tax expense (31,486) (30,220) (28,145) (2,281) (9,145) (14,527) (466)  Income (loss) from continuing operations \$ 37,439 \$ 42,063 \$ 37,270 \$ (7,715) \$ 355 \$ 19,258 \$ (5,204)  Balance Sheet Data Current assets \$ 276,064 \$ 309,439 \$ 314,508 \$ 264,698 \$ 261,833 \$ 304,636 \$ 296,582 Current liabilities 160,638 193,690 180,966 186,556 179,494 149,920 153,748									(1.050)		15.000		14060				
Purchased in-process research and development and other charges (9,025) (800)  Operating income (loss) 71,250 77,581 74,304 (577) 18,620 38,960 3,035 Interest expense (5,113) (6,281) (7,254) (6,422) (7,127) (4,951) (8,174 Other income (expense), net 2,788 983 (1,635) 1,565 (1,993) (224) 391 Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 68,925 72,283 65,415 (5,434) 9,500 33,785 (4,744 Income tax expense (31,486) (30,220) (28,145) (2,281) (9,145) (14,527) (460 Income (loss) from continuing operations sheet Data  Current assets \$ 276,064 \$ 309,439 \$ 314,508 \$ 264,698 \$ 261,833 \$ 304,636 \$ 296,582 Current liabilities 160,638 193,690 180,966 186,556 179,494 149,920 153,748									(1,858)				,				
research and development and other charges (9,025) (800)  Operating income (loss) 71,250 77,581 74,304 (577) 18,620 38,960 3,035 Interest expense (5,113) (6,281) (7,254) (6,422) (7,127) (4,951) (8,174 (1,951) (1,95	E										4,889		4,889				
Operating income (loss) 71,250 77,581 74,304 (577) 18,620 38,960 3,035 Interest expense (5,113) (6,281) (7,254) (6,422) (7,127) (4,951) (8,174 Other income (expense), net 2,788 983 (1,635) 1,565 (1,993) (224) 391 Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 68,925 72,283 65,415 (5,434) 9,500 33,785 (4,744 Income tax expense (31,486) (30,220) (28,145) (2,281) (9,145) (14,527) (460 Income (loss) from continuing operations \$37,439 \$42,063 \$37,270 \$(7,715) \$355 \$19,258 \$(5,204 Balance Sheet Data Current assets \$276,064 \$309,439 \$314,508 \$264,698 \$261,833 \$304,636 \$296,582 Current liabilities 160,638 193,690 180,966 186,556 179,494 149,920 153,748	research and development and other		(0.025)						(800)								
Interest expense (5,113) (6,281) (7,254) (6,422) (7,127) (4,951) (8,1740) (1,951) (1,9	charges	_	(9,023)						(800)								
Interest expense (5,113) (6,281) (7,254) (6,422) (7,127) (4,951) (8,1740) (1,951) (1,9	0		71.050		77.501		74.204		(577)		10.620		20.060		2.020		
Other income (expense), net         2,788         983         (1,635)         1,565         (1,993)         (224)         391           Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes         68,925         72,283         65,415         (5,434)         9,500         33,785         (4,744)           Income tax expense         (31,486)         (30,220)         (28,145)         (2,281)         (9,145)         (14,527)         (460)           Income (loss) from continuing operations         \$ 37,439         \$ 42,063         \$ 37,270         \$ (7,715)         \$ 355         \$ 19,258         \$ (5,204)           Balance Sheet Data           Current assets         \$ 276,064         \$ 309,439         \$ 314,508         \$ 264,698         \$ 261,833         \$ 304,636         \$ 296,582           Current liabilities         160,638         193,690         180,966         186,556         179,494         149,920         153,748																	
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 68,925 72,283 65,415 (5,434) 9,500 33,785 (4,744) Income tax expense (31,486) (30,220) (28,145) (2,281) (9,145) (14,527) (460) Income (loss) from continuing operations \$ 37,439 \$ 42,063 \$ 37,270 \$ (7,715) \$ 355 \$ 19,258 \$ (5,204) Balance Sheet Data  Current assets \$ 276,064 \$ 309,439 \$ 314,508 \$ 264,698 \$ 261,833 \$ 304,636 \$ 296,582 Current liabilities 160,638 193,690 180,966 186,556 179,494 149,920 153,748	*		(5,113)		(6,281)		(7,254)		(6,422)		(7,127)		(4,951)		(8,1/4)		
continuing operations         68,925         72,283         65,415         (5,434)         9,500         33,785         (4,744)           Income tax expense         (31,486)         (30,220)         (28,145)         (2,281)         (9,145)         (14,527)         (460)           Income (loss) from continuing operations         \$ 37,439         \$ 42,063         \$ 37,270         \$ (7,715)         \$ 355         \$ 19,258         \$ (5,204)           Balance Sheet Data           Current assets         \$ 276,064         \$ 309,439         \$ 314,508         \$ 264,698         \$ 261,833         \$ 304,636         \$ 296,582           Current liabilities         160,638         193,690         180,966         186,556         179,494         149,920         153,748	`		2,788		983		(1,635)		1,565		(1,993)		(224)		391		
continuing operations         68,925         72,283         65,415         (5,434)         9,500         33,785         (4,744)           Income tax expense         (31,486)         (30,220)         (28,145)         (2,281)         (9,145)         (14,527)         (460)           Income (loss) from continuing operations         \$ 37,439         \$ 42,063         \$ 37,270         \$ (7,715)         \$ 355         \$ 19,258         \$ (5,204)           Balance Sheet Data           Current assets         \$ 276,064         \$ 309,439         \$ 314,508         \$ 264,698         \$ 261,833         \$ 304,636         \$ 296,582           Current liabilities         160,638         193,690         180,966         186,556         179,494         149,920         153,748				_						_				_			
before income taxes 68,925 72,283 65,415 (5,434) 9,500 33,785 (4,744) Income tax expense (31,486) (30,220) (28,145) (2,281) (9,145) (14,527) (460)  Income (loss) from continuing operations \$ 37,439 \$ 42,063 \$ 37,270 \$ (7,715) \$ 355 \$ 19,258 \$ (5,204)  Balance Sheet Data Current assets \$ 276,064 \$ 309,439 \$ 314,508 \$ 264,698 \$ 261,833 \$ 304,636 \$ 296,582 Current liabilities 160,638 193,690 180,966 186,556 179,494 149,920 153,748																	
Income tax expense         (31,486)         (30,220)         (28,145)         (2,281)         (9,145)         (14,527)         (460)           Income (loss) from continuing operations         \$ 37,439         \$ 42,063         \$ 37,270         \$ (7,715)         \$ 355         \$ 19,258         \$ (5,204)           Balance Sheet Data           Current assets         \$ 276,064         \$ 309,439         \$ 314,508         \$ 264,698         \$ 261,833         \$ 304,636         \$ 296,582           Current liabilities         160,638         193,690         180,966         186,556         179,494         149,920         153,748	e 1		60.0 <b>2.</b>						( <b>7</b>		0.700		22 = 2				
Income (loss) from continuing operations \$ 37,439 \$ 42,063 \$ 37,270 \$ (7,715) \$ 355 \$ 19,258 \$ (5,204)  Balance Sheet Data Current assets \$ 276,064 \$ 309,439 \$ 314,508 \$ 264,698 \$ 261,833 \$ 304,636 \$ 296,582 Current liabilities 160,638 193,690 180,966 186,556 179,494 149,920 153,748											- /						
Current liabilities 160,638 \$ 42,063 \$ 37,270 \$ (7,715) \$ 355 \$ 19,258 \$ (5,204)  8 37,439 \$ 42,063 \$ 37,270 \$ (7,715) \$ 355 \$ 19,258 \$ (5,204)  9 356 \$ 19,258 \$ (5,204)  9 356 \$ 19,258 \$ (5,204)  9 357 \$ 19,258 \$ (5,204)  9 3	Income tax expense	_	(31,486)		(30,220)		(28,145)		(2,281)	_	(9,145)		(14,527)		(460)		
Current liabilities 160,638 \$ 42,063 \$ 37,270 \$ (7,715) \$ 355 \$ 19,258 \$ (5,204)  8 37,439 \$ 42,063 \$ 37,270 \$ (7,715) \$ 355 \$ 19,258 \$ (5,204)  9 356 \$ 19,258 \$ (5,204)  9 356 \$ 19,258 \$ (5,204)  9 357 \$ 19,258 \$ (5,204)  9 3	Income (loss) from																
Current assets       \$ 276,064       \$ 309,439       \$ 314,508       \$ 264,698       \$ 261,833       \$ 304,636       \$ 296,582         Current liabilities       160,638       193,690       180,966       186,556       179,494       149,920       153,748		\$	37,439	\$	42,063	\$	37,270	\$	(7,715)	\$	355	\$	19,258	\$	(5,204)		
Current assets       \$ 276,064       \$ 309,439       \$ 314,508       \$ 264,698       \$ 261,833       \$ 304,636       \$ 296,582         Current liabilities       160,638       193,690       180,966       186,556       179,494       149,920       153,748	Ralance Sheet Data																
Current liabilities 160,638 193,690 180,966 186,556 179,494 149,920 153,748		\$	276 064	\$	309 439	\$	314 508	\$	264 698	\$	261 833	\$	304 636	\$	296 582		
		Ψ		Ψ		Ψ		Ψ		Ψ		Ψ		Ψ			
	Working capital		115,426		115,749		133,542		78,142		82,339		154,716		142,834		
* *															1.93 to 1		
															139,268		

Edgar Filing: BOWNE & CO INC - Form 424B2

Total assets	642,298	678,624	660,215	637,334	704,402	710,061	739,960
Long-term debt	74,887	47,281	85,676	76,941	142,708	165,660	188,187
Stockholders equity	383,171	408,460	360,966	330,029	336,320	353,864	341,949

5

### **Table of Contents**

	Years Ended December 31,											Nine Months Ender September 30,					
	 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002							_	20	002 20		20	003				
	(Dollars in thousands)								_	(Unaudited			ed)				
Per Share Data																	
Income (loss) from continuing																	
operations:																	
Basic	\$ 1.02	\$	1.14		\$	1.08	\$	(.23)		\$	.01	9	5	.58	\$		(.15)
Diluted	1.00		1.12			1.05		(.23)			.01			.54			(.15)
Dividends	.20		.22			.22		.22			.22			.165			.165
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges(1)	7.0x		5.6x			4.4x		1.0x			1.6x			2.9x			1.2x

<sup>(1)</sup> For the purpose of these computations, earnings have been calculated by adding fixed charges less capitalized interest, income in earnings of affiliates, and minority interest of subsidiaries that have not incurred fixed charges, to income before taxes and minority interest, plus amortization of capitalized interest and cash distributions from equity investments. Fixed charges consist of interest cost, whether expensed or capitalized, amortization of deferred financing costs and the estimated interest portion of rental expense charged to income.

6

#### **Table of Contents**

#### RISK FACTORS

Your investment in the debentures will involve risks. Before you decide to purchase any debentures or the common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures, you should carefully consider the following risk factors and other information contained, or incorporated by reference, in this prospectus.

#### **Risks Relating to Our Business**

A significant amount of our revenue and profit is derived from transactional financial printing services, and our strategy to diversify into new fields that complement our financial print business may not be successful.

An important objective of our business plan is to reduce the proportion of our revenue derived from traditional, transaction-related printing services by investing in products and services for all other stages of the document life cycle. We believe that this focus, which emphasizes highly integrated and customized services as well as management of documents from creation to dissemination, will lead to more stable recurring revenue from long-term contracts and to more opportunities to become a client s preferred vendor for new or enhanced products and services. This strategy has many risks, including the following:

the pace of technological changes affecting our business segments and our clients needs has been rapid, and our products and services could become obsolete before we have recovered the cost of developing them or obtained the desired return on our investment;

product innovations and effective servicing of our client relationships require a large investment in personnel and training. The market for technical staff is exceptionally competitive, and we may not be able to attract and retain a sufficient number of qualified personnel; and

because the markets for technology-driven communications, such as globalization services or personalized communications, are evolving so rapidly, they are *very* fragmented, with numerous competing products and services. Competitors that have greater experience, resources or a more widely regarded reputation for providing such technology-based solutions may be better able to gain market share in our targeted markets or develop next generation products more quickly and comprehensively.

If we are unsuccessful in continuing to diversify our business from primarily financial printing services to broad-based document management, we will continue to be subject to the sometimes volatile swings in the capital markets that directly impact the demand for transactional printing services. Furthermore, if we are unable to provide value-added services in areas of document management other than traditional typesetting and printing, our margins could come under increasing pressure as more and more clients handle this process in-house, to the extent that new technologies allow this process to be conducted internally. We believe that if we are not successful in developing these new services, our financial print business, which represented 64% and 56% of our total revenues in 2002 and the first nine months of 2003, respectively, will experience further decreases in profitability and volume unless a significant and sustained recovery in capital market activity occurs. If this decline in profitability continues, without offsetting increases in revenues from other services, our business and results of operation will be materially and adversely affected.

Revenue from printed financial documents is subject to regulatory changes and volatility in demand, which despite our diversification efforts could adversely affect our operating results.

While we believe that our investments in our outsourcing and globalization segments position us to capitalize on evolving document management demands, we anticipate that our financial print business segment will continue to contribute a material amount to our operating results. Revenues from transactional financial printing services were 41% of our total revenues in 2000, 27% in 2001 and 26% in 2002, due in part to our diversification efforts as well as the overall slowdown in capital market activity. The market for these services depends in part on the demand for printed financial documents, which is driven largely by capital markets activity and the requirements of the SEC and other regulatory bodies. Any rulemaking substantially affecting the content of prospectuses and their delivery could have an adverse effect on our business. In addition, evolving market practices in light of regulatory developments, such as postings of documents on

7

#### **Table of Contents**

Internet web pages and electronic delivery of offering documents including electronic roadshows , may adversely affect the demand for printed financial documents and reports.

Recent regulatory developments in the United States have accelerated the timing for filing periodic compliance reports, such as public company annual reports and interim quarterly reports, and also have changed some of the content requirements requiring greater disclosure in those reports. The combination of shorter deadlines for public company reports and more content may adversely affect our ability to meet our client s needs in times of peak demand, or may cause our clients to try to exercise more control over their filings by performing those functions in-house.

Our financial print revenues may be adversely affected as clients implement technologies enabling them to produce and disseminate documents on their own. For example, our clients and their financial advisors have increasingly relied on web-based distributions for prospectuses and other printed materials. Also, the migration from an ASCII-based EDGAR system to an HTML format for SEC public filings eventually may enable more of our clients to handle all or a portion of their periodic filings without the need for our services.

Demand for services provided by our financial print business segment can also be affected by volatility in domestic and international capital markets due to economic, political and other events beyond our control. After reaching record highs in fiscal 1999 and 2000, the events of September 11, 2001, mounting concerns over corporate governance and a general decline in the global economy have combined to cause an historic decline in capital market activity, particularly in mergers and acquisitions and initial public offerings (IPOs), during 2001 and 2002. The number of IPOs larger than \$50 million declined 69% from 2000 to 2001, and despite an increase in 2002 remain at their lowest level since 1990. Similarly, the number of announced mergers and acquisitions over \$50 million fell almost 50% from 2000 to 2002 to levels not seen since the mid-1990s. We cannot assure you that the demand for financial printing will return to the levels we experienced in 1999 and 2000. If the current prolonged period of market uncertainty and low transactional volumes continues, without increased profitability from our other business segments, our operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

# The industries in which we compete are highly competitive and we may not be able to compete effectively, which would harm our business and operating results.

Competition in our industries is intense. The speed and accuracy with which we can meet client needs, the price of our services and the quality of our products and supporting services are factors in this competition. Our clients include a wide variety of corporations, law firms, investment banks, insurance companies, bond dealers, mutual funds and other financial institutions, as well as leading software companies.

In financial print, we compete directly with a number of other financial printers having the same degree of specialization. Some of those financial printers operate at multiple locations, and some are subsidiaries or divisions of companies that have greater financial resources than us.

In commercial printing, we compete with general commercial printers, which are far more numerous than those in the financial printing market. Our digital printing unit faces diverse competition from a variety of industries including other printers, transfer agents, banks and Internet systems integration consultants.

Our outsourcing segment faces a great deal of competition, and some of our competitors have been established in this field much longer than us. Furthermore, the costs of entry into the outsourcing market are much lower than those associated with our other business activities, and price competition for contracts can be intense.

Our globalization segment also competes in a market with many participants. There are relatively few barriers preventing companies from competing with us in the globalization business segment. As a result, new market entrants also pose a threat to our business. In addition to our existing competitors, we may face further competition in the future from companies that do not currently offer globalization services. Technology companies, Internet consulting firms, technical support call centers, hosting companies and content management providers may choose to broaden their range of services to include globalization as they expand their

8

#### **Table of Contents**

operations internationally. In addition, a significant portion of the market for globalization is handled by companies in-house.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete effectively in each of our businesses.

#### The globalization industry is relatively new, and a market for our services may never fully develop.

Because the globalization industry is relatively new and rapidly evolving, it is difficult to accurately predict demand and market acceptance for our existing services and services under development. Increased acceptance of our services will depend upon:

the development of our targeted markets;

the performance and price of our services and those of our clients ; and

customer service.

The development of the globalization services market also will depend upon:

the demand for new applications;

the ability of our globalization services to meet and adapt to that demand; and

continuing price and performance improvements in hardware technology that we expect to reduce the cost and increase the performance of our globalization services.

These markets may not develop further, and our globalization services may not achieve market acceptance.

We have made significant investments in developing our globalization segment, and there can be no assurance that our investment in our capabilities will be commensurate with the demand for those services. Accordingly, we may not be able to realize the return on our investments that we originally anticipated, and failure to recover our investment or to not realize sufficient return on our investment may adversely affect our results of operations.

# The market for our BES services is relatively new, and we may not be able to recover our investment, capture the demand for our services or realize the rate of return on our investment that we originally anticipated.

The personalized communications market is loosely defined with a wide variety of different types of services and product offerings. Moreover, customer acceptance of the diverse solutions for these services and products remains to be proven in the long-term, and demand for discrete services and products remains difficult to predict.

We have made significant investments in developing the capabilities of our BES business unit and the solutions we provide. While we expect that the next two years will be an important window of opportunity in terms of gaining customer acceptance of our solutions and winning market share, there can be no assurance that such demand will develop or that we will be able to realize a meaningful return on our investment.

If we are unable to adequately implement our solutions, are unable to generate sufficient customer interest in our solutions or are otherwise unable to capitalize on sales opportunities, we may not be able to realize the return on our investments that we originally anticipated, and failure to recover our investment or to not realize sufficient return on our investment may adversely affect our results of operations as well as our efforts to diversify our businesses.

#### Our business could be harmed if we do not successfully manage the integration of businesses that we acquire.

As part of our business strategy, we have in the past and may continue in the future to acquire other businesses that build upon our core capabilities. Our ability to grow through these acquisitions will depend on

9

#### **Table of Contents**

the availability of suitable acquisition candidates at an acceptable cost, our ability to compete effectively for these acquisition candidates and the availability of capital to complete acquisitions. These risks could be heightened if we complete several acquisitions within a relatively short period of time. The benefits of an acquisition may often take considerable time to develop, and we cannot guarantee that any acquisition will in fact produce the intended benefits. Acquisitions involve a number of risks, including:

the difficulty of integrating the operations and personnel of the acquired businesses into our ongoing operations;

the potential disruption of our ongoing business and distraction of management;

the difficulty in incorporating acquired technology and rights into our products and technology;

unanticipated expenses and delays relating to completing acquired development projects and technology integration;

a potential increase in our indebtedness and contingent liabilities, which could in turn restrict our ability to access additional capital when needed or to pursue other important elements of our business strategy;

the management of geographically remote units;

the establishment and maintenance of uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies;

the impairment of relationships with employees and clients as a result of any integration of new management personnel;

risks of entering markets or types of businesses in which we have either limited or no direct experience;

the potential loss of key employees or clients of the acquired businesses; and

potential unknown liabilities, such as liability for hazardous substances, or other difficulties associated with acquired businesses.

We have recently acquired Berlitz GlobalNet, Inc. and DecisionQuest, Inc. These significant acquisitions have required substantial integration and management efforts. As a result of the aforementioned and other risks, we may not realize anticipated benefits from these or other acquisitions.

Failure to achieve anticipated benefits from these or other future acquisitions could materially harm our business.

Our international operations require significant management attention and financial resources, exposes us to difficulties presented by international economic, political, legal, accounting and business factors, and may not be successful or produce desired levels of revenue.

We derive a portion of our revenues from various foreign sources, and a significant part of our current operations are outside of the United States. We conduct operations in Canada, Europe, Central and South America and Asia. In addition, we have affiliations with certain firms providing similar services abroad. We have a global network of more than 100 local sales offices and affiliates. As a result of our international presence, our business is subject to political and economic instability and currency fluctuations in various countries. The maintenance of our international operations and entry into additional international markets require significant management attention and financial resources. In addition, there are many barriers to competing successfully in the international arena, including:

costs of customizing products and services for foreign countries;

difficulties in managing and staffing employees and independent contractors in our international operations;

reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

currency exchange rate fluctuations;

10

#### **Table of Contents**

longer sales and payment cycles;

greater difficulties in collecting accounts receivable, including currency conversion and cash repatriation from foreign jurisdictions;

licenses, tariffs and other trade barriers;

potentially adverse tax consequences;

the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws, including employment-related laws;

unexpected changes in regulatory requirements; and

political and economic instability.

We cannot assure you that our investments in other countries will produce desired levels of revenue or that one or more of the factors listed above will not harm our business. For example, although to date, we have not experienced significant gains or losses as a result of fluctuations in the exchange rates of foreign currencies, as we expand our global presence, fluctuations may become significant, and they may have a more significant impact on our revenue, cash flow and ability to achieve and maintain profitability. We currently do not hedge our foreign currency exchange risk, and accordingly significant changes in exchange rates, particularly between the U.S. dollar and E.U. euro, has both positively and negatively affected our historical returns, and may continue to have a meaningful impact on our future results of operations.

#### We have significant fixed costs which are not easily reduced if revenues fall below expectations.

Despite our restructuring and our move to a more flexible cost model, a high percentage of our operating expenses remain relatively fixed. We likely will not be able to further reduce spending in the near term to compensate for adverse fluctuations in revenues. Accordingly, future shortfalls in revenues are likely to materially adversely affect our operating results.

# In the transactional portion of our financial print business, we generally do not have long-term service agreements, which makes revenue forecasting difficult.

Much of our revenue in our transactional financial print business is derived from individual projects rather than long-term service agreements. We have no long-term contracts with our transactional financial print clients. Therefore, we cannot assure you that a client will engage us for further services once a project is completed or that a client will not unilaterally reduce the scope of, or terminate, existing projects. You should not predict or anticipate our future revenue based on the number of clients we have or the size of our existing projects. The absence of long-term service agreements makes it difficult to predict our future revenue. We have no backlog, within the common meaning of that term, which is normal in the transactional financial print market. However, within our financial print segment, we maintain a backlog of clients preparing for IPOs. This IPO backlog is highly dependent on the capital markets for new issues, which are experiencing low volumes of activity.

#### If we are unable to retain our key employees and attract and retain other qualified personnel, our business could suffer.

Our ability to grow and our future success will depend to a significant extent on the continued contributions of our senior management, in particular Robert Johnson, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and individual technical and sales personnel, many of whom have extensive experience in our business operations or have valuable client relationships and who would be difficult to replace. Their departure from the company, if unexpected and unplanned for, could cause a disruption to our business.

Our future success also depends in large part on our ability to identify, attract and retain other highly qualified managerial, technical, sales and marketing and customer service personnel. Competition for these individuals is intense, especially in the markets in which we operate. We may not succeed in identifying, attracting and retaining these personnel. Further, competitors and other entities have in the past recruited and

11

#### **Table of Contents**

may in the future attempt to recruit our employees, particularly our sales personnel. The loss of the services of any of our key personnel, the inability to identify, attract and retain qualified personnel in the future or delays in hiring qualified personnel, particularly technical and sales personnel, could make it difficult for us to manage our business and meet key objectives, such as the timely introduction of new technology-based products and services, which would harm our business, financial condition and operating results.

# If we fail to keep our clients information confidential or if we handle their information improperly, our business and reputation could be significantly and adversely affected.

We, through each of our business segments, manage private and confidential information and documentation related to our clients finances and transactions, often prior to public dissemination. The use of insider information is highly regulated in the United States and abroad, and violations of securities laws and regulations may result in civil and criminal penalties. If we fail to keep our clients proprietary information and documentation confidential, we may lose existing clients and potential new clients and may expose them to significant loss of revenue based on the premature release of confidential information. We may also become subject to civil claims by our clients or other third parties or criminal investigations by appropriate authorities.

# Our services depend on the reliability of our computer systems and our ability to implement and maintain information technology and security measures.

Our global platform of services depends on the ability of our computer systems to act efficiently and reliably at all times. Though we have back-up capacity for all of our critical systems and facilities, certain emergencies or contingencies could occur, such as a computer virus attack, a natural disaster, a significant power outage covering multiple cities or a terrorist attack, which could temporarily shut down our facilities and computer systems. Maintaining up to date and effective security measures requires extensive capital expenditures. In addition, the ability to implement further technological advances and to maintain effective information technology and security measures is important to each of our business segments. If our technological and operations platforms become dated, we will be at a disadvantage when competing against other players in our industry. Furthermore, if the security measures protecting our computer systems and operating platforms are breached, we may lose our clients business.

#### We must adapt to rapid changes in technology and client requirements to remain competitive.

The market and demand for our products and services, to a varying extent, has been characterized by:

rapid technological change;

frequent product and service introductions; and

evolving client requirements.

We believe that these trends will continue into the foreseeable future. Our success will depend, in part, upon our ability to:

enhance our existing products and services;

successfully develop new products and services that meet increasing client requirements; and

gain market acceptance.

To achieve these goals, we will need to continue to make substantial investments in development and marketing. We may not:

have sufficient resources to make these investments;

be successful in developing product and service enhancements or new products and services on a timely basis, if at all; or

be able to market successfully these enhancements and new products once developed.

12

#### **Table of Contents**

Further, our products and services may be rendered obsolete or uncompetitive by new industry standards or changing technology. In early 2004, we expect to begin implementing our new typesetting front-end system, ACE, that has been under development for two years. This new technology may be superseded in the near future by more advanced systems prior to a time at which we have been able to achieve a return on our investment.

#### Risks Related to the Debentures and Our Common Stock

Our debt level could prevent us from satisfying our obligations under the debentures. Our debt has limited our flexibility in operating our business and could further restrict our flexibility or limit our access to funds we need to grow our business.

Our consolidated indebtedness as of September 30, 2003 was \$188.9 million. Our degree of leverage may have important consequences, including the following:

a portion of our cash flow is used to service debt, which reduces the funds that would otherwise be available for operations and future business opportunities;

our debt level makes us more vulnerable to the impact of economic downturns and adverse developments in our business;

our debt level could limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;

we may have difficulties obtaining additional or favorable financing for capital expenditures, working capital, acquisitions or other purposes;

our debt level may impact our level of discretionary capital expenditures and related expansion opportunities;

our debt level may expose us to risks inherent in interest rate fluctuations because some of our borrowings will be at variable rates of interest, which could result in higher interest expense in the event of increases in interest rates; and

our debt level may place us at a competitive disadvantage to our less leveraged competitors.

Our ability to meet our expenses and debt obligations, to refinance our debt obligations and to fund capital expenditures will depend on our future performance, which will be affected by general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors beyond our control.

Our business may not generate sufficient cash flow, or we may not be able to borrow funds under our revolving credit facility, in an amount sufficient to enable us to meet anticipated future operating expenses, service our indebtedness, including the debentures and our existing senior notes, or make capital expenditures. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow from operations or to borrow sufficient funds, we may be required to sell assets, eliminate or defer capital expenditures, restructure or refinance all or a portion of our existing debt (including the debentures) or obtain additional financing. We may not be able to refinance our debt, sell assets or borrow more money on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Additionally, our ability to incur additional debt will be restricted under the covenants contained in our revolving credit facility and senior notes.

Because the debentures are subordinated to our senior indebtedness, holders of debentures may receive proportionately less than holders of our senior debt in a bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganization or similar proceeding.

The debentures are unsecured and are subordinated in right of payment in full to all of our existing and future senior indebtedness, including all indebtedness under our revolving credit facility and senior notes. As a result, if we become insolvent or enter into a bankruptcy or similar proceeding, or if our obligations under the debentures are accelerated due to an event of default under the indenture or certain other events, then the holders of our senior indebtedness must be paid in full before you are paid. In addition, we cannot make any

13

#### **Table of Contents**

cash payments to you if we have failed to make payments to holders of designated senior indebtedness. We generally cannot make any payments to you for a period of up to 179 days if a non-payment default exists under our designated senior indebtedness. At September 30, 2003, the debentures ranked behind in right of payment to \$113.9 million of senior indebtedness.

#### Holders of debentures are structurally subordinated to the creditors of our subsidiaries.

The debentures are our exclusive obligations, and our corporate organization results in structural subordination of the debentures. Because our business is conducted through our subsidiaries, our cash flows and ability to service debt, including the debentures, is dependent upon the earnings of our subsidiaries and the distribution of those earnings, or loans or other payments of funds by those subsidiaries, to us. Our subsidiaries are separate legal entities and have no obligation to make any payments on the debentures or to make funds available to us so that we may make payments on the debentures. Moreover, laws or contractual provisions may restrict the ability of our subsidiaries to distribute, loan or pay to us their available earnings. If any of our subsidiaries are liquidated, reorganizes or are declared bankrupt, our right to receive assets of that subsidiary (and the consequent right of the holders of the debentures to participate in those assets) will be effectively subordinated to the claims of that subsidiary s creditors, including trade creditors, except to the extent that we are recognized as a creditor of such subsidiary, in which case our claims would still be subordinated to any secured indebtedness of that subsidiary or other indebtedness senior to our claim. As of September 30, 2003, our subsidiaries had \$134.6 million of indebtedness, excluding intercompany liabilities, to which the debentures effectively are subordinated.

# The indenture for the debentures does not contain financial or other restrictive covenants, and allows us to incur an unlimited amount of additional indebtedness.

The indenture governing the debentures does not contain any financial or operating covenants and does not restrict our ability of our subsidiaries to incur additional debt, including senior debt or secured debt, or to provide guarantees of debt of others. If we incur additional debt, our ability to repay our obligations under the debentures could be adversely affected. We expect that we and our subsidiaries will from time to time incur additional debt. In addition, the indenture governing the debentures does not restrict our ability to pay dividends or to issue or repurchase our securities.

#### Our debt instruments impose restrictions on us that may adversely affect our ability to operate our business.

Under our revolving credit facility and our senior notes, we are required to comply with specified financial covenants and conditions, including maintaining a minimum level of consolidated shareholders—equity, total leverage ratio, fixed charge ratio and ratio of indebtedness to capitalization.

Our ability to comply with these covenants, as they currently exist or as they may be amended, may be affected by many events beyond our control, and our future operating results may not allow us to comply with the covenants, or in the event of a default, to remedy that default. Our failure to comply with those financial covenants or to comply with the other restrictions contained in our revolving credit facility could result in a default, which could cause that indebtedness (and by reason of cross-acceleration provisions, the debentures, our senior notes and other indebtedness) to become immediately due and payable. If we are unable to repay those amounts, the lenders under our revolving credit facility could proceed against the account receivables granted to them as collateral to secure our revolving credit facility and as consideration for a recent amendment to the revolving credit facility. If the lenders under our revolving credit facility or senior notes accelerate the payment of our revolving credit facility or our senior notes, we cannot assure you that we could pay that indebtedness immediately and continue to operate our business. Short of a default on our revolving credit facility and senior notes, if we fail to comply with any of our financial covenants, our lenders and noteholders may be able to force us to accept amendments to our credit agreement and note purchase agreement that would make the terms of these debt instruments more onerous on us.

14

#### **Table of Contents**

In addition, the indentures for the debentures and our senior notes contain other covenants and restrictions, including restrictions on, among other things, additional indebtedness, liens, sale-leaseback transactions, mergers or consolidations and transfers of assets, asset sales, transactions with affiliates, the designation of restricted subsidiaries and acquisitions.

We may incur additional indebtedness ranking equal to the debentures, which may reduce the amount of proceeds paid to you in connection with any insolvency or other similar proceeding.

If we incur any additional debt that ranks equally with the debentures, including trade payables, the holders of that debt will be entitled to share ratably with you in any proceeds distributed in connection with any insolvency, liquidation, reorganization, dissolution or other winding-up of our company. This may have the effect of reducing the amount of proceeds paid to you.

We may not have sufficient cash to purchase or may otherwise be restricted from purchasing the debentures if you exercise your option to require us to purchase the debentures or if a change in control event triggers a requirement for us to purchase the debentures.

You may require us to purchase all or any portion of your debentures upon the occurrence of a change in control or on certain specified dates. We are required to pay cash for any debentures you require us to purchase on October 1, 2008. We have the option to pay the purchase price in cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and common stock, if you require us to purchase the debentures on dates other than October 1, 2008 or if we are required to purchase the debentures upon a change in control, but our ability to pay in shares of our common stock is subject to conditions, including registration under the Securities Act, if required, and we may not be able to meet those conditions.

Upon a change in control under the indenture, we will be required to offer to repurchase all of the debentures then outstanding at 100% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest or additional cash amounts, if any, to the repurchase date. Since the events that constitute a change in control under the indenture will also constitute a change in control under our revolving credit facility and under the indentures that govern our senior notes, upon each occurrence, we will be required to offer to repurchase all of our senior notes then outstanding, each at 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the repurchase date. If a change in control were to occur today, we would not have the financial resources available to repay all of the debt that would become payable upon a change in control and to repurchase all of the debentures.

We may not have sufficient cash funds to purchase the debentures if you require us to purchase the debentures on October 1, 2008 or upon a change in control under the indenture. We are currently seeking an amendment to our senior notes, which we expect to occur before the closing of this offering, that among other things would remove a limitation on our ability to repurchase outstanding debentures before their stated maturity. However, the same amendment will give the holders of senior notes a put option that is exercisable in the six-months immediately prior to October 1, 2008, the first date on which holders of the debentures issued in this offering may require us to repurchase debentures. In addition, borrowing arrangements or agreements relating to other indebtedness to which we may become a party in the future may contain restrictions on or prohibitions against our repurchase of the debentures. If we cannot obtain the necessary waivers or refinance the applicable borrowings, we would be unable to repurchase the debentures. If we were unable to purchase the debentures on October 1, 2008, an event of default under the indenture would occur. An event of default under the indenture revent of default under our other then-existing senior debt. In addition, the occurrence of the change in control under the indenture may be an event of default under our senior debt. As a result, we could be prohibited from paying amounts due on the debentures in cash.

15

#### **Table of Contents**

# The contingent conversion feature of the debentures could result in you receiving less than the value of the common stock into which a debenture is convertible.

The debentures are convertible into shares of our common stock only if specified conditions are met. If the specified conditions for conversion are not met, you will not be able to convert your debentures, and you may therefore not be able to receive the value of the common stock into which the debentures would otherwise be convertible. The contingent conversion feature could also adversely affect the value and the trading prices of the debentures.

# Before conversion, holders of the debentures will not be entitled to any shareholder rights, but will be subject to all changes affecting our shares.

If you hold debentures, you will not be entitled to any rights with respect to shares of our common stock, including voting rights and rights to receive dividends or distributions. However, the common stock you receive upon conversion of your debentures will be subject to all changes affecting our common stock. Except for limited cases under the adjustments to the conversion price, you will only be entitled to rights that we may grant with respect to shares of our common stock if and when we deliver shares to you upon your election to convert your debentures into shares. For example, if we seek approval from shareholders for a potential merger, or if an amendment is proposed to our certificate of incorporation or by-laws that requires shareholder approval, holders of debentures will not be entitled to vote on the merger or amendment.

#### Low trading volumes and shares eligible for public sale could adversely affect our stock price.

Over recent years our stock has traded on relatively thin volumes. Accordingly, our stock price may be subject to increased volatility depending on the announcement of certain events, such as periodic variations in operating results. The market price of the convertible debentures is expected to be significantly affected by the market price of our shares of common stock. This may result in greater volatility in the trading value of the debentures than typically would be expected for nonconvertible debt securities.

In addition, as of September 30, 2003, there were 3,598,344 shares of our common stock underlying vested stock options eligible for sale. We currently have on file a registration statement covering the shares underlying these options. We cannot predict the effect, if any, that market sales of those shares of common stock or the availability of those shares of common stock for sale will have on the market price of our common stock from time to time.

# Your ability to transfer the debentures may be limited by the absence of an active trading market, and we cannot assure you that any active trading market will develop for the debentures.

We do not intend to list the debentures on any national securities exchange. The Initial Purchasers are not obligated to make a market in the debentures and any market-making activities with respect to the debentures may be discontinued at any time without notice. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that an active public or other market will develop for the debentures or provide you with assurances as to the liquidity of the trading market for the debentures. If a trading market does not develop or is not maintained, holders of the debentures may experience difficulty in reselling the debentures or may be unable to sell them at all. If a market for the debentures develops, that market may be discontinued at any time. If a public trading market develops for the debentures, future trading prices of the debentures will depend on many factors, including, among other things, prevailing interest rates, our financial condition and results of operations and the market for similar debentures. Depending on those and other factors, the debentures may trade at a discount from their principal amount.

# Anti-takeover provisions may delay or prevent changes in control or deter a third party from acquiring us, limiting our stockholders ability to profit from such a transaction.

Our board of directors has the authority to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock and to determine the price, rights, preferences and privileges of those shares without any further vote or action by our stockholders. Furthermore, in 1998, we adopted a stockholder rights plan that entitles each outstanding

16

#### **Table of Contents**

common share to one preferred share purchase right. Each right entitles the registered holder to purchase one-thousandth of a share of series B junior participating preferred stock, par value \$.01 per share (Series B Preferred Stock) at \$125 per one-thousandth of a share. This authority to issue preferred stock, and our stockholder rights plan, could each have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire a majority of out outstanding voting stock. See Description of Capital Stock Stockholder Rights Agreement.

We are subject to the anti-takeover provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits us from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person becomes an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. The application of Section 203 could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of us. Section 203, the stockholder rights plan, and certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws and Delaware corporate law, may have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers, or delaying or preventing changes in control of our management, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares over then current market prices. See Description of Capital Stock Anti-Takeover Effects of Provisions of Delaware Law and our Charter Documents .

17

### **Table of Contents**

# USE OF PROCEEDS

We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the debentures or the shares of common stock offered by this prospectus. The selling securityholders will receive all proceeds from the sale of the debentures or the sale of the shares of common stock offered by this prospectus.

18

#### **Table of Contents**

### PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK AND DIVIDEND POLICY

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol BNE. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the reported high and low closing sales prices per share of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange and dividend payments for our common stock:

	High		Low		Div	vidend
Year ended December 31, 2001						
First Quarter	\$	11.31	\$	9.00	\$	.055
Second Quarter		12.50		9.26		.055
Third Quarter		12.25		8.94		.055
Fourth Quarter		13.80		9.06		.055
V 11D 1 21 2002						
Year ended December 31, 2002			_		_	
First Quarter	\$	14.37	\$	11.30	\$	.055
Second Quarter		16.21		12.74		.055
Third Quarter		14.80		9.62		.055
Fourth Quarter		12.14		8.66		.055
Year ending December 31, 2003						
First Quarter	\$	12.11	\$	9.25	\$	.055
Second Quarter		13.25		10.09		.055
Third Quarter		15.80		12.92		.055
Fourth Quarter		15.82		13.30		.055
Year ending December 31, 2004						
First quarter (through January 8, 2004)		14.34		13.66		

The last reported sale price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on January 8, 2004 was \$14.17. As of January 8, 2004, there were 1,195 stockholders of record of our common stock.

We have continuously paid cash dividends since 1968, and we have paid a regular quarterly cash dividend of \$0.055 per share of common stock in each of the last 21 fiscal quarters. The payment of cash dividends in the future will depend on our operating results, cash flow, working capital requirements and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors.

19

#### **Table of Contents**

#### DESCRIPTION OF THE DEBENTURES

The debentures are issued under an indenture between us and The Bank of New York, as trustee, and are entitled to the benefits of a registration rights agreement between us and the Initial Purchasers. Because this section is a summary, it does not describe every aspect of the debentures, the indenture and the registration rights agreement. The following summaries of certain provisions of the indenture and the registration rights agreement do not purport to be complete and are subject to, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, the detailed provisions of the debentures, the indenture and the registration rights agreement, including the definitions therein of certain terms.

#### General

The debentures are unsecured obligations of Bowne, and are subordinated in right of payment to all of our senior indebtedness. The debentures initially are limited to \$75,000,000 aggregate principal amount. We are required to repay the principal amount of the debentures in full on October 1, 2033.

The debentures bear interest at the rate per annum shown on the front cover of this prospectus from September 24, 2003. We will pay interest on the debentures on April 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing on April 1, 2004. Interest payable per \$1,000 principal amount of debentures for the period from the issue date to April 1, 2004 will be approximately \$25.97. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months.

Accrued interest (including additional interest, if any) on a debenture will be deemed to be paid by a portion of the shares of our common stock issued upon conversion of that debenture. No other payment or adjustment will be made for accrued interest (including additional interest, if any) on a converted debenture or for dividends or distributions on shares of our common stock issued upon conversion of a debenture.

We are not be subject to any financial covenants under the indenture. In addition, the indenture does not restrict our ability to pay dividends, incur debt or issue or repurchase our securities.

The debentures will mature on October 1, 2033 unless earlier redeemed by us at our option, repurchased by us at a holder s option on certain dates as described under Repurchase Rights, or converted at a holder s option as described below under Conversion Rights.

Subject to the conditions described under Conversion Rights, each holder has the option to convert its debentures into our common stock at an initial conversion rate of 54.1126 shares of our common stock per debenture. This is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately \$18.48 per share. The conversion rate is subject to adjustment if certain events occur as described under Conversion Rights. We will not adjust the conversion rate to account for accrued interest. As described above, accrued interest will be deemed to be paid by a portion of the shares of our common stock issued upon conversion of the debenture. Upon conversion, you will receive only shares of our common stock, except that we will pay cash in lieu of fractional shares. However, under the circumstances described under Conversion Rights, upon conversion we may elect to pay cash or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock in lieu of settlement exclusively in shares of common stock.

#### **Subordination**

The indebtedness evidenced by the debentures is subordinated to the extent provided in the indenture to the prior payment in full of all our senior debt (as defined below). In the event of our insolvency, bankruptcy, receivership, liquidation, reorganization or similar proceeding or liquidation, dissolution or winding up or any assignment for the benefit of creditors or marshalling of assets and liabilities, payments by us on the debentures will be subordinated in right of payment to the prior payment in full in cash, or in other forms of consideration if permitted, of all of our senior debt. As a result of these subordination provisions, in the event of our liquidation, insolvency or any similar event described above, holders of our senior debt may receive more, ratably, and holders of the debentures may receive less, ratably, than our other creditors. In the event of any acceleration of the debentures because of an event of default, holders of any of our senior debt would be entitled to payment in full in cash or cash equivalents of all senior debt before the holders of debentures are

20

#### **Table of Contents**

entitled to receive any payment or distribution from us other than any payment or distribution in the form of permitted junior securities (as defined below) and payments made from the trust described under Satisfaction and Discharge. We are required to promptly notify holders of senior debt if payment of the debentures is accelerated because of an event of default.

We also may not make payments of principal, interest or other amounts in respect of the debentures or redeem or repurchase the debentures (except for payment in the form of permitted junior securities) if any of the following occurs:

a default in the payment of the principal, interest or other amounts on designated senior debt (as defined below) occurs and is continuing;

any other default on designated senior debt occurs and the maturity of such designated senior debt is accelerated and such acceleration has not been subsequently rescinded; or

any other default (other than the ones specified above) occurs and is continuing with respect to designated senior debt that permits holders or their representatives of designated senior debt to accelerate its maturity, and the trustee receives a payment blockage notice from us or representatives of such designated senior debt.

The foregoing prohibitions regarding payments by us on the debentures shall end:

in case of a prohibition based on (1) a payment default or (2) a nonpayment default where the maturity of such designated senior debt is accelerated, when all amounts in respect of such designated senior debt have been paid in full in cash or cash equivalents or the default is cured, waived or ceases to exist and any acceleration has been rescinded; and

in case of a prohibition based on a nonpayment default (other than the ones specified above), 179 days after the receipt of the payment blockage notice, unless (1) earlier terminated by the written notice of the person who gave the payment blockage notice, (2) all amounts on the designated senior debt have been paid in full in cash or cash equivalents or (3) the default giving rise to the payment blockage notice is cured, waived or ceases to exist, unless the designated senior debt has been accelerated.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, we are permitted to make payments on the debentures if we and the trustee receive written notice approving such payment from the representative of the designated senior debt with respect to which the payment default has occurred and is continuing. No new payment blockage period based on a nonpayment default may start unless 360 days have elapsed since the beginning of the effectiveness of the prior payment blockage notice. No nonpayment default that existed or was continuing on the date of delivery of any payment blockage notice to the trustee may be the basis for a subsequent payment blockage notice, unless such default has been cured or waived for a period of at least 90 days. The subordination provisions will not prevent the occurrence of any event of default under the indenture. If the trustee or any holder receives any payment that should not have been made to it in contravention of subordination provisions before all senior debt is paid in full in cash, then such payment will be held in trust for the holders of senior debt.

designated senior debt means any and all indebtedness and related obligations outstanding under our revolving credit facility and our senior notes and any other particular senior debt having an aggregate principal amount in excess of \$30,000,000 in which the instrument creating or evidencing the same or the assumption or guarantee thereof, or related agreements to which we are a party, expressly provides that such senior debt shall be designated senior debt for purposes of the indenture. The instrument, agreement or other document evidencing such designated senior debt may place limitations and conditions on the right of such senior debt to exercise the rights of designated senior debt.

permitted junior securities means any payment or distribution in the form of equity securities or subordinated securities of Bowne or any successor obligor that, in the case of any such subordinated securities, are subordinated in right of payment to all senior debt or any securities issued in exchange for senior debt that may at the time be outstanding to at least the same extent as the debentures are so subordinated.

21

#### **Table of Contents**

senior debt means, with respect to Bowne:

all indebtedness for money borrowed, for reimbursement of drawings under letters of credit and all hedging obligations (including, without limitation, all obligations under our revolving credit facility and our senior notes), unless the instrument under which such indebtedness is incurred expressly provides that it is on a parity with or subordinated in right of payment to the debentures;

any deferrals, renewals, refinancings, replacements or extensions of any of the above.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the preceding, senior debt does not include:

any liability for federal, state, local, or foreign or other taxes owed or owing by Bowne;

any intercompany indebtedness of Bowne to any of its affiliates; or

any trade payables.

The debentures are not be guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries. Consequently, the debentures are structurally subordinated to all indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade payables, of our subsidiaries. Our right to receive any assets of our subsidiaries upon their liquidation or reorganization, and your consequent right to participate in those assets, are effectively subordinated to the claims of the subsidiary s creditors, including trade creditors, except to the extent that we are recognized as a creditor of such subsidiary. Even in the event that we are recognized as a creditor of one of our subsidiaries, our claims would still be effectively subordinate to any security interest in the assets of the subsidiary and any indebtedness of such subsidiary senior to that held by us.

As of September 30, 2003, we had \$113.9 million of senior indebtedness outstanding and our subsidiaries had \$134.6 million of outstanding indebtedness and other liabilities, excluding intercompany liabilities.

Neither we nor our subsidiaries are limited or prohibited from incurring senior debt or any other indebtedness or liabilities under the indenture. We expect from time to time to incur additional indebtedness and other liabilities, including senior debt. If we or our subsidiaries incur additional indebtedness, our ability to pay our obligations on the debentures could be affected. We also expect that our subsidiaries may from time to time incur additional indebtedness and other liabilities.

#### Form, Denomination, Transfer, Exchange and Book-Entry Procedures

The debentures are issued:

only in fully registered form;

without interest coupons; and

in denominations of \$1,000 and greater multiples.

The debentures are evidenced by one or more global debentures, which are deposited with the trustee, as custodian for The Depository Trust Company, or DTC, and registered in the name of Cede & Co., or Cede, as nominee of DTC. Except as set forth below, record ownership of the global debenture may be transferred, in whole or in part, only to another nominee of DTC or to a successor of DTC or its nominee.

The global debenture is not registered in the name of any person, or exchanged for debentures that are registered in the name of any person, other than DTC or its nominee, unless either of the following occurs:

DTC notifies us that it is unwilling, unable or no longer qualified to continue acting as the depositary for the global debenture or DTC ceases to be a registered clearing agency or ceases doing business or announces an intention to cease doing business; or

an event of default with respect to the debentures represented by the global debenture has occurred and is continuing.

In those circumstances, DTC will determine in whose names any securities issued in exchange for the global debenture will be registered.

#### **Table of Contents**

DTC or its nominee is considered the sole owner and holder of the global debenture for all purposes, and as a result:

you cannot receive debentures registered in your name if they are represented by the global debenture;

you cannot receive physical certificated debentures in exchange for your beneficial interest in the global debentures;

you will not be considered to be the holder of the global debenture or any debenture it represents for any purpose; and

all payments on the global debenture will be made to DTC or its nominee.

The laws of some jurisdictions require that certain kinds of purchasers, such as insurance companies, can only own securities in definitive certificated form. These laws may limit your ability to transfer your beneficial interests in the global debenture to these types of purchasers.

Only institutions, such as a securities broker or dealer, that have accounts with DTC or its nominee (called participants) and persons that may hold beneficial interests through participants can own a beneficial interest in the global debenture. The only place where the ownership of beneficial interests in the global debenture will appear and the only way the transfer of those interests can be made will be on the records kept by DTC (for their participants interests) and the records kept by those participants (for interests of persons held by participants on their behalf).

Secondary trading in bonds and debentures of corporate issuers is generally settled in clearinghouse (that is, next-day) funds. In contrast, beneficial interests in a global debenture usually trade in DTC s same-day funds settlement system, and settle in immediately available funds. We make no representations as to the effect that settlements in immediately available funds will have on trading activity in those beneficial interests.

We will make payments of interest on principal of and the redemption or repurchase price of the global debenture, as well as any payment of additional interest, to Cede, as the registered owner of the global debenture. We will make these payments by wire transfer of immediately available funds on each payment date.

We have been informed that DTC s practice is to credit participants accounts on the payment date with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the debentures represented by the global debenture as shown on DTC s records, unless DTC has reason to believe that it will not receive payment on that payment date. Payments by participants to owners of beneficial interests in debentures represented by the global debenture held through participants will be the responsibility of those participants.

We will send any redemption notices to Cede. We understand that if less than all the debentures are being redeemed, DTC s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the holdings of each participant to be redeemed.

We also understand that neither DTC nor Cede will consent or vote with respect to the debentures. We have been advised that under its usual procedures, DTC will mail an omnibus proxy to us as soon as possible after the record date. The omnibus proxy assigns Cede s consenting or voting rights to those participants to whose account the debentures are credited on the record date and who are identified in a listing attached to the omnibus proxy.

Because DTC can only act on behalf of participants, who in turn act on behalf of indirect participants, the ability of a person having a beneficial interest in the principal amount represented by the global debenture to pledge the interest to persons or entities that do not participate in the DTC book-entry system, or otherwise take actions in respect of that interest, may be affected by the lack of a physical certificate evidencing its interest.

DTC has advised us that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of debentures (including the presentation of debentures for conversion) only at the direction of one or more participants to whose account with DTC interests in the global debenture are credited and only in respect of such portion of

23

#### **Table of Contents**

the principal amount of the debentures represented by the global debenture as to which such participant or participants has or have given such direction.

DTC has also advised us as follows:

DTC is a limited purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a clearing corporation within the meaning of the Uniform Commercial Code, as amended, and a clearing agency registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act;

DTC was created to hold securities for its participants and facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of its participants;

participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations and may include certain other organizations;

certain participants, or their representatives, together with other entities, own DTC; and

indirect access to the DTC system is available to other entities such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant, either directly or indirectly.

The policies and procedures of DTC, which may change periodically, will apply to payments, transfers, exchanges and other matters relating to beneficial interests in the global debenture. We and the trustee have no responsibility or liability for any aspect of DTC s or any participant s records relating to beneficial interests in the global debenture, including for payments made on the global debenture. Further, we and the trustee are not responsible for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any of those records.

#### **Conversion Rights**

Subject to the conditions described below, holders may convert their debentures into our common stock initially at a conversion rate of 54.1126 shares of our common stock per \$1,000 principal amount of debentures (equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately \$18.48 per share). The conversion rate and the equivalent conversion price in effect at any given time are referred to in this prospectus as the conversion rate and the conversion price, respectively, and will be subject to adjustment as described below.

We will not issue fractional shares of our common stock upon the conversion of the debentures. Instead, we will pay the cash value of such fractional shares based upon the sale price (as defined below) of our common stock on the business day immediately preceding the conversion date.

If a debenture has been called for redemption, holders will be entitled to convert that debenture from the date of notice of the redemption until the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the date of redemption. The right to convert will expire at that time, unless we default in making the payment due upon redemption. A holder may convert fewer than all of such holder s debentures so long as the debentures converted are an integral multiple of \$1,000 principal amount.

A holder may convert its debentures into our common stock at the applicable conversion rate prior to the stated maturity of the debentures under any of the following circumstances:

during any conversion period (as defined below) prior to October 1, 2032, if the sale price of our common stock for at least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive trading day period ending on the first day of such conversion period is more than 120% of the conversion price on the first day of the conversion period;

at any time after the sale price of our common stock on any date after October 1, 2032 is more than 120% of the then current conversion price;

during the five consecutive business day period following any five consecutive trading-day period in which the average of the trading prices (as defined below) for the debentures was less than 95% of the

24

#### **Table of Contents**

average of the sale prices of our common stock for such five trading-day period multiplied by the applicable conversion rate; *provided, however*, if, on the day before the conversion date, the sale price of our common stock is greater than 100% of the conversion price but less than or equal to 120% of the conversion price, then a holder converting its debentures may receive, in lieu of our common stock based on the applicable conversion rate, at our option, cash, our common stock or a combination of cash and our common stock with a value equal to 100% of the principal amount of the holder s debentures on the conversion date;

if, and for so long as, the credit rating is reduced at least two notches below the credit rating initially assigned by Moody s or S&P;

if we have called such holder s debentures for redemption and the redemption has not yet occurred; or

upon the occurrence of the specified corporate transactions discussed below.

### Conversion Upon Satisfaction of Sale Price Condition

A holder may convert any of its debentures into our common stock during any conversion period prior to October 1, 2032, if the sale price of our common stock, for at least 20 trading days in the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the first day of such conversion period, is more than 120% of the conversion price on the first day of such conversion period. If an event set forth under Conversion Rate Adjustments shall have occurred during the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the first day of such conversion period, the sale price of our common stock on the trading day prior to the occurrence of the event shall be deemed for purposes of the calculation described in the previous sentence to have been appropriately adjusted to reflect the occurrence of the event.

A holder may also convert any of its debentures into our common stock if, at any time after October 1, 2032, the sale price of our common stock is more than 120% of the then current conversion price. In such event, the holder may convert any of its debentures into our common stock at any time thereafter prior to the close of business on the business day immediately prior to the maturity of the debentures.

The *conversion price* per share of our common stock as of any day will equal the principal amount of the debentures divided by the applicable conversion rate.

A *conversion period* will be the period from and including the eleventh trading day in a fiscal quarter up to but not including the eleventh trading day of the following fiscal quarter.

The *sale price* of our common stock on any date means the last reported per share sale price (or, if no last sale price is reported, the average of the last bid and ask prices or, if more than one in either case, the average of the average bid and the average ask prices) on such date as reported in composite transactions for the principal U.S. securities exchange on which our common stock then is listed, or if our common stock is not listed on a U.S. national or regional exchange, as reported on the NASDAQ National Market, or if our common stock is not quoted on the NASDAQ National Market, as reported on the principal other market on which our common stock is then traded. In the absence of such quotations, our board of directors will make a good faith determination of the sale price.

The conversion agent will, on our behalf, determine daily if the debentures are convertible as a result of the sale price of our common stock and notify us and the trustee. The conversion agent initially will be The Bank of New York.

# Conversion Upon Satisfaction of Trading Price Condition

A holder may convert any of its debentures into our common stock during the five consecutive business day period following any five consecutive trading-day period in which the average of the trading prices for the debentures (as determined following a request by a holder of the debentures in accordance with the procedures described below) was less than 95% of the average sale price of our common stock during such five trading-day period multiplied by the applicable conversion rate.

25

### **Table of Contents**

The *trading price* of the debentures on any date of determination means the average of the secondary market bid quotations per debenture obtained by the trustee for \$5,000,000 principal amount of the debentures at approximately 3:30 p.m., New York City time, on such determination date from two independent nationally recognized securities dealers we select, which may include any of the Initial Purchasers; *provided* that if at least two such bids cannot reasonably be obtained by the trustee, but one such bid can reasonably be obtained by the trustee, this one bid shall be used. If the trustee cannot reasonably obtain at least one bid for \$5,000,000 principal amount of the debentures from a nationally recognized securities dealer or, in our reasonable judgment, the bid quotations are not indicative of the secondary market value of the debentures, then the trading price of the debentures will equal (a) the then-applicable conversion rate of the debentures multiplied by (b) the sale price of our common stock on such determination date. The trustee is entitled to all of the rights set forth in the indenture in connection with any such determination will be conclusive absent manifest error.

The Bank of New York, as trustee, will determine the trading price after being requested in writing to do so by us. We will have no obligation to make that request unless a holder of debentures provides us with reasonable evidence that the trading price of the debentures may be less than 95% of the average sale price of our common stock multiplied by the applicable conversion rate for a five consecutive trading-day period. If a holder provides such evidence, we will instruct the trustee in writing to determine the trading price of the debentures for the applicable period.

# Conversion Upon Credit Ratings Event

The debentures have been assigned a credit rating of B- by S&P and Caa1 by Moody s. A holder may convert any of its debentures if, and for so long as, the credit rating assigned to the debentures by either Moody s or S&P is reduced at least two notches below the credit rating initially assigned to the debentures by Moody s or S&P, as the case may be. The debentures, however, do not become convertible if the credit rating assigned to the debentures, if any, has been suspended or withdrawn by either of such rating agencies or if either of such rating agencies is not rating the debentures. We have no obligation to cause the debentures to be rated or to continue to be rated.

### Conversion Upon Notice of Redemption

A holder may convert any of the debentures called for redemption at any time prior to the close of business one business day prior to the redemption date, even if the debentures are not otherwise convertible at that time. If a holder has already delivered a purchase notice or a change in control purchase notice with respect to a debenture, however, the holder may not convert that debenture until the holder has withdrawn the notice in accordance with the indenture.

# Conversion Upon Specified Corporate Transactions

Even if none of the conditions described above have occurred, if:

we elect to distribute to all or substantially all holders of our common stock rights entitling them to purchase our common stock at less than the current market price (as defined in the indenture) at the time, or

we elect to distribute to all or substantially all holders of our common stock our assets, debt securities or rights to purchase our securities, which distribution has a per share value exceeding 10.0% of the sale price (as defined above) of our common stock on the day preceding the declaration date for such distribution, then

we must notify the holders of debentures at least 20 days prior to the ex-dividend date for such distribution. Once we have given that notice, holders may convert their debentures at any time until the earlier of the close of business on the business day prior to the ex-dividend date or our announcement that such distribution will not take place. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no adjustment to the ability of a holder to convert will be made if the holder will otherwise participate in the distribution without conversion.

26

### **Table of Contents**

In addition, if we are party to a consolidation, merger or binding share exchange pursuant to which all or substantially all of our common stock would be converted into cash, securities or other property, a holder may convert debentures at any time from and after the date that is 15 days prior to the anticipated effective date of the transaction until 15 days after the actual date of such transaction. If we are a party to a consolidation, merger or binding share exchange pursuant to which all or substantially all of our common stock is converted into cash, securities or other property, then at the effective time of the transaction, the right to convert a debenture into our common stock will be changed into a right to convert the debentures into the kind and amount of cash, securities or other property that the holder would have received if the holder had converted its debentures immediately prior to the transaction. If the transaction also constitutes a Change in Control, as defined below, a holder can require us to purchase all or a portion of its debentures as described under Change in Control.

#### Conversion Rate and Conversion Procedures

The initial conversion rate is 54.1126 shares of our common stock for each \$1,000 principal amount of debentures. This is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately \$18.48 per share of our common stock. We will not issue fractional shares of our common stock upon conversion of the debentures. Instead, we will pay cash for the fractional shares based on the sale price of our common stock on the trading day immediately prior to the conversion date. Delivery of our common stock will be deemed to satisfy our obligation to pay the principal amount of the debentures, including any accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest. Accrued interest will be deemed paid in full rather than canceled, extinguished or forfeited. We will not adjust the conversion rate to account for accrued interest.

Upon conversion, in lieu of settlement in shares of our common stock based on the applicable conversion rate, we may elect to settle in cash or a combination of cash and shares of common stock. If we elect to settle entirely in cash, we will deliver to the holder surrendering debentures on the conversion date, cash in an amount equal to the product of (i) a number equal to (A) the aggregate principal amount of debentures to be converted divided by 1,000, multiplied by (B) the conversion rate in effect on the conversion date, and (ii) 100% of the average sale price for the five consecutive trading days ending on the third day preceding the conversion date. If we elect to settle a portion of the conversion obligation in cash, we will deliver to the holder surrendering the debentures on the conversion date a cash amount calculated as described above and will satisfy the balance of our conversion obligation by delivering shares of common stock to such holder. If a holder converts its debentures, we will notify such holder, with a copy to the trustee and the conversion agent, by the second trading day following the date of conversion whether we will pay such holder in cash, our common stock or a combination of cash and our common stock, and in what percentage. We will pay such holder any portion of the principal amount of such holder s debentures so converted to be paid in cash on the third trading day after the conversion date. With respect to any portion of the sum of the principal amount of such holder s debentures so converted to be paid in our common stock, we will deliver our common stock to such holder on the fourth trading day following the conversion date. The portion of any combination settlement represented by shares of our common stock will be calculated to the nearest full share, and the value of any fractional share shall be added to the cash payment portion of the combination settlement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an event of default, as Events of Default below (other than a default in a cash payment upon conversion of the debentures), has occurred and is continuing, we may not elect to settle in cash or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock upon conversion of any debenture, other than payment of cash in lieu of fractional shares.

To convert interests in a global debenture, you must deliver to DTC the appropriate instruction form for conversion pursuant to DTC s conversion program. To convert all or part of any definitive debenture you must deliver the debenture at the corporate trust office of the conversion agent, initially The Bank of New York, accompanied by a duly signed and completed conversion notice, a copy of which may be obtained from the conversion agent. The conversion date will be the date on which the debenture and the duly signed and completed conversion notice are so delivered.

As promptly as practicable on or after the conversion date, to the extent we have not notified the holder that we will settle in cash, we will issue and deliver to the conversion agent a certificate or certificates for the

27

### **Table of Contents**

number of full shares of our common stock issuable upon conversion, together with payment in lieu of any fraction of a share. If we have notified the holder that we will settle in a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, then we will deliver to the conversion agent a certificate or certificates for the number of full shares of our common stock issuable as part of such combination, together with the cash payment constituting the remainder of such combination settlement. The certificates and cash payments will then be sent by the conversion agent for delivery to the holder of the debenture being converted. The shares of our common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures will be fully paid and nonassessable and will rank equally with the other shares of our common stock.

If a holder converts a debenture on a date that is not an interest payment date, the holder will not be entitled to receive any cash interest for the period from the preceding interest payment date to the date of conversion, except as described below. However, if the holder is a holder of a debenture on a regular record date, including a debenture converted after the regular record date, the holder will receive the interest payable on such debenture on the next succeeding interest payment date. Accordingly, any conversion notice given during the period from the close of business on a regular record date to the opening of business on the next succeeding interest payment date must be accompanied by payment by such holder of an amount equal to the interest payable on such interest payment date on the principal amount of debentures being converted. However, a holder will not be required to make that payment if it is converting a debenture, or a portion of a debenture, that we have called for redemption, or that the holder is entitled to require us to repurchase from such holder, if the conversion right would terminate because of the redemption or repurchase between the regular record date and the close of business on the second business day following the next succeeding interest payment date.

No other payment or adjustment for interest, or for any dividends in respect of our common stock, will be made upon conversion. Holders of our common stock issued upon conversion will not be entitled to receive any dividends payable to holders of our common stock as of any record time or date before the close of business on the conversion date. We will not issue fractional shares of common stock upon conversion. Instead, we will pay cash in lieu of fractional shares of common stock based upon the sale price of our common stock on the business day immediately preceding the conversion date.

You will not be required to pay any taxes or duties relating to the issue or delivery of our common stock on conversion but you will be required to pay any tax or duty relating to any transfer involved in the issue or delivery of our common stock in a name other than yours. Certificates representing shares of our common stock will not be issued or delivered unless all taxes and duties, if any, payable by you have been paid.

# Conversion Rate Adjustments

The conversion rate will be adjusted, without duplication, on the occurrence of, among other things:

- 1. the payment of dividends and other distributions payable exclusively in our common stock on shares of our common stock to all holders of our common stock;
- 2. the issuance to all holders of our common stock of rights, options or warrants entitling them to subscribe for or purchase our common stock at less than the then current market price (as defined in the indenture) of such common stock as of the date of approval by our board of directors of the issuance of such rights, options or warrants; provided that the conversion rate will be readjusted to the extent that such rights, options or warrants are not exercised prior to their expiration;
  - 3. subdivisions, combinations and reclassifications of our common stock;
- 4. the payment of distributions to all holders of our common stock consisting of evidences of our indebtedness, shares of capital stock, cash or assets, not including:

those dividends, rights, options, warrants and distributions referred to in item 2 above;

dividends and distributions paid exclusively in cash other than those referred to in items 5 and 6 below; and

29

# **Table of Contents**

distributions upon mergers or consolidations discussed in item 6 below, in which case we will adjust the conversion ratio by multiplying the conversion ratio then in effect by a fraction,

the numerator of which is the current market price of our common stock; and

the denominator of which is the current market price of our common stock minus the fair market value, as determined by our board of directors, of the portion of those assets, shares or evidences of indebtedness so distributed applicable to one share of our common stock;

5. distributions by us consisting exclusively of cash, excluding cash distributed upon a merger or consolidation discussed in item 6 below, to all holders of our common stock in an aggregate amount that, combined together with other all-cash distributions made within the preceding 365 day period in respect of which no adjustment has been made, exceeds \$0.22 per share (appropriately adjusted from time to time for any stock dividends on or subdivisions or combinations of our common stock), in which case we will adjust the conversion ratio by multiplying the conversion ratio then in effect by a fraction,

the numerator of which is the current market price of our common stock plus the amount by which the cash dividends or other distributions within such 365-day period exceed \$0.22 per share; and

the denominator of which is the current market price of our common stock;

6. the successful completion of a tender offer made by us or any of our subsidiaries for shares of our common stock which involves an aggregate consideration that, together with:

any cash in excess of \$0.22 per share and the fair market value of other consideration payable in a tender offer by us or any of our subsidiaries for shares of our common stock consummated within the 365-day period preceding the expiration of that tender offer in respect of which no adjustments have been made; and

the aggregate amount of any cash distributions to all holders of our common stock within the 365-day period preceding the expiration of that tender offer in respect of which no adjustments have been made,

(such tender offer consideration, together with the amounts in the two bullet points above, the combined tender and cash amounts ) exceeds 10% of our market capitalization, being the product of the sale price per share of our common stock on the date of acceptance of shares in such tender offer and the number of shares of common stock then outstanding. In these circumstances, we will adjust the conversion ratio by multiplying the conversion ratio then in effect by a fraction,

the numerator of which is equal to the product of (x) the current market price of our common stock multiplied by (y) the number of shares of common stock then outstanding (including any tendered shares) minus the number of all shares validly tendered and not withdrawn as of the expiration of the tender offer; and

the denominator of which is equal to (p) the product of the current market price of our common stock multiplied by the number of shares of common stock then outstanding (including any tendered shares) minus (q) the combined tender and cash amounts.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, there will be no adjustment of the conversion rate upon issuance of shares pursuant to a dividend reinvestment plan or because of a tender or exchange offer to holders of less than 100 shares of our common stock.

We have issued rights to all of our holders of common stock pursuant to our stockholder rights plan described under Description of Capital Stock Stockholder Rights Plan. This plan may be amended or renewed or a replacement rights plan may be adopted by us. There will be no adjustment upon the issuance of rights pursuant to any such rights plan prior to such rights being separated from the common stock. If any holder converts debentures prior to the rights trading separately from the common stock, the holder will be entitled to receive rights in addition to the common stock. Following the occurrence of a separation event,

29

### **Table of Contents**

holders will only receive common stock upon a conversion of any debentures without the right. Similarly, if we elect to settle our conversion obligation in cash, the amount of the payment will not include the value of the right. However, upon the occurrence of the separation event, the conversion ratio will be adjusted. If such an adjustment is made and the rights are later redeemed, invalidated or terminated, then a reversing adjustment will be made.

We reserve the right to effect such increases in the conversion rate in addition to those required by the foregoing provisions as we consider to be advisable in order to avoid or diminish any income tax to holders of our common stock resulting from certain dividends, distributions or issuances of rights or warrants. We will not be required to make any adjustment to the conversion rate until the cumulative adjustments amount to 1.0% or more of the conversion rate. We will compute all adjustments to the conversion rate and will give notice by mail to holders of the registered debentures, with a copy to the trustee and the conversion agent, of any adjustments.

In the event that we consolidate or merge with or into another entity or another entity is merged into us, or in case of any sale or transfer of all or substantially all of our assets, each debenture then outstanding will become convertible only into the kind and amount of securities, cash and other property receivable upon such consolidation, merger, sale or transfer by a holder of the number of shares of common stock into which the debentures were convertible immediately prior to the consolidation or merger or sale or transfer. The preceding sentence will not apply to a merger or sale of all or substantially all of our assets that does not result in any reclassification, conversion, exchange or cancellation of our common stock.

We may, from time to time, to the extent permitted by law, increase the conversion rate for any period of at least 20 days if our board of directors determines that the increase would be in our best interest. The board of directors determination in this regard will be conclusive. We will give holders of debentures at least 15 days notice, with a copy to the trustee and the conversion agent, of such an increase in the conversion rate. Any increase, however, will not be taken into account for purposes of determining whether the closing price of our common stock equals or exceeds 105% of the conversion price in connection with an event that otherwise would be a change in control as defined below.

If at any time we make a distribution of property to our stockholders that would be taxable to such stockholders as a dividend for United States federal income tax purposes, such as distributions of cash in excess of our current dividend rate, evidences of indebtedness or assets by us, but generally not stock dividends on common stock or rights to subscribe for common stock, and, pursuant to the anti-dilution provisions of the indenture, the number of shares of common stock into which debentures are convertible is increased, that increase may be deemed for United States federal income tax purposes to be the payment of a taxable dividend to holders of the debentures. See Certain United States Federal Income Tax Considerations Dividends.

# Redemption by Bowne

We may redeem for cash any portion of the debentures at any time on or after October 1, 2008 upon at least 30 and not more than 60 days notice by mail to the holders of the debentures. The redemption price will be equal to 100% of the principal amount to be redeemed together with accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, up to, but not including, the redemption date. Unless we default in the payment of the redemption price, on the redemption date interest will cease to accrue on the debentures called for redemption.

If we decide to redeem fewer than all of the outstanding debentures, the trustee will select the debentures to be redeemed by lot, on a pro rata basis or by another method the trustee considers appropriate.

If the trustee selects a portion of a holder s debenture for partial redemption and such holder converts a portion of the same debenture, the converted portion will be deemed to be from the portion selected for redemption.

30

# **Table of Contents**

In the event of any redemption, we will not be required to:

issue, register the transfer of or exchange any debenture during a period beginning at the opening of business 15 days before the mailing of a notice of redemption of such debentures for redemption and ending at the close of business on the earliest date on which the relevant notice of redemption is mailed to all holders of debentures to be so redeemed, or

register the transfer of or exchange any debenture so selected for redemption, in whole or in part, except the unredeemed portion of any debenture being redeemed in part.

No sinking fund is provided for the debentures, which means that the indenture does not require us to redeem or retire the debentures periodically.

We or a third party may, to the extent permitted by applicable law, at any time purchase debentures in the open market, by tender at any price or by private agreement. Any debenture that we purchase or a third party purchases may, to the extent permitted by applicable law and subject to restrictions contained in the purchase agreement with the Initial Purchasers, be re-issued or resold or may, at our or such third party s option, be surrendered to the trustee for cancellation. Any debentures surrendered for cancellation may not be re-issued or resold and will be canceled promptly.

# **Payment and Conversion**

Payment of any interest on the debentures will be made to DTC or its nominee or the person in whose name the debenture, or any predecessor debenture, is registered at the close of business on March 15 or September 15, whether or not a business day, immediately preceding the relevant interest payment date (a regular record date ).

Payments on any global debenture registered in the name of DTC or its nominee will be payable by the trustee to DTC or its nominee in its capacity as the registered holder under the indenture. Under the terms of the indenture, we and the trustee will treat the persons in whose names the debentures, including any global debenture, are registered as the owners for the purpose of receiving payments and for all other purposes. Consequently, neither we, the trustee nor any of our agents or the trustee s agents has or will have any responsibility or liability for:

any aspect of DTC s records or any participant s or indirect participant s records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in the global debenture, or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any of DTC s records or any participant s or indirect participant s records relating to the beneficial ownership interests in the global debentures; or

any other matter relating to the actions and practices of DTC or any of its participants or indirect participants.

We will not be required to make any payment on the debentures due on any day which is not a business day until the next succeeding business day. The payment made on the next succeeding business day will be treated as though it were paid on the original due date, and no interest will accrue on the payment for the additional period of time.

If the debentures are registered in your name as a result of the occurrence of an event described under Form, Denomination, Transfer, Exchange and Book-Entry Procedures, and you hold registered debentures with a face value greater than \$2,000,000, at your request we will make payments of principal or interest to you by wire transfer to an account maintained by you at a bank in The City of New York if you provide the trustee with wire transfer instructions at least 15 days prior to the relevant payment date.

Debentures may be converted at the corporate trust office of the conversion agent. A conversion request must be accompanied by appropriate notices and any payments in respect of interest or taxes, as applicable, as described above under Conversion Rights.

We have initially appointed the trustee as paying agent and conversion agent. We may terminate the appointment of any paying agent or conversion agent and appoint additional or other paying agents and

31

### **Table of Contents**

conversion agents. However, until the debentures have been received by the trustee for cancellation, or moneys sufficient to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the debentures have been made available for payment and either paid or returned to us as provided in the indenture, we will maintain an office or agency in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York for conversion of the debentures. Notice of any termination or appointment and of any change in the office through which any paying agent or conversion agent will act will be given in accordance with Notices below.

All moneys deposited with the trustee or any paying agent, or then held by us, in trust for the payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any debentures which remain unclaimed at the end of two years after the payment has become due and payable will be repaid to us, and you will then look only to us for payment.

### Repurchase Rights

Holders have the right to require us to repurchase the debentures on October 1, 2008, October 1, 2013, October 1, 2018, October 1, 2023 and October 1, 2028, each of which we refer to as a repurchase date , at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of debentures to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, to, but not including, the repurchase date. We will be required to repurchase any outstanding debentures for which you deliver a written repurchase notice to the paying agent. This notice must be received by the paying agent during the period beginning at any time from the opening of business on the date that is 20 business days prior to the relevant repurchase date until the close of business on the last business day prior to the repurchase date. If the repurchase notice is given and withdrawn during the period, we will not be obligated to repurchase the related debentures. Our repurchase obligation will be subject to some additional conditions as described below.

We will pay the repurchase price for any debentures submitted for repurchase by us on October 1, 2008 solely in cash. At our sole option, we may elect to pay the repurchase price for any debentures submitted for repurchase by us on October 1, 2013, October 1, 2018, October 1, 2023 or October 1, 2028, in cash, in shares of our common stock or a combination of shares of our common stock and cash. The number of shares of our common stock a holder will receive will equal the relevant amount of the purchase price divided by 95% of the average of the sale prices of our common stock for the five trading days immediately preceding and including the third business day immediately preceding the repurchase date. However, we may not pay the purchase price in shares of our common stock or a combination of shares of our common stock and cash, unless we satisfy certain conditions prior to the repurchase date as provided in the indenture, including:

registration of the shares of our common stock to be issued upon repurchase under the Securities Act, if required;

qualification of the shares of our common stock to be issued upon repurchase under applicable state securities laws, if necessary, or the availability of an exemption therefrom; and

listing of our common stock on a U.S. national securities exchange or quotation thereof in an inter-dealer quotation system of any registered U.S. national securities association.

We are required to give notice at least 20 business days prior to each repurchase date to all holders stating, among other things, the procedures that holders must follow to require us to repurchase their debentures as described below and with respect to debentures submitted for repurchase by us on October 1, 2013, October 1, 2018, October 1, 2023 or October 1, 2028, whether the purchase price will be paid in cash or shares of our common stock, or a combination with a portion payable in cash or shares of our common stock.

Because the sale price of our common stock will be determined prior to the applicable repurchase date, holders of debentures bear the market risk that our common stock will decline in value between the date the sale price is calculated and the repurchase date.

32

#### **Table of Contents**

The repurchase notice given by each holder electing to require us to repurchase debentures shall be given so as to be received by the paying agent no later than the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the repurchase date and must state:

the portion of the principal amount of debentures to be repurchased, which must be \$1,000 or an integral multiple thereof; and

that the debentures are to be repurchased by us pursuant to the applicable provisions of the debentures and the indenture.

A holder may withdraw any repurchase notice by delivering a written notice of withdrawal to be received by the paying agent prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the repurchase date. The notice of withdrawal must state:

the principal amount of debentures being withdrawn; and

the principal amount, if any, of the debentures that remain subject to the repurchase notice.

Your withdrawal notice must comply with appropriate DTC procedures.

In connection with any repurchase, we will, to the extent applicable:

comply with the provisions of Rule 13e-4, Rule 14e-1 and any other tender offer rules under the Exchange Act which may then be applicable; and

file Schedule TO or any other required schedule under the Exchange Act.

Our obligation to pay the purchase price for debentures for which a repurchase notice has been delivered and not validly withdrawn is conditioned upon the holder delivering the debentures, together with necessary endorsements, to the paying agent at any time after delivery of the repurchase notice. We will cause the purchase price for the debentures to be paid promptly following the later of the repurchase date or the time of delivery of the debentures, together with such endorsements.

If the paying agent holds money or shares of our common stock, as applicable, sufficient to pay the purchase price of a debenture for which a repurchase notice has been given on the business day immediately following the repurchase date in accordance with the terms of the indenture, then, on the repurchase date, such debenture will cease to be outstanding and interest on such debenture will cease to accrue, whether or not such debenture is delivered to the paying agent. Thereafter, all rights of the holder shall terminate, other than the right to receive the purchase price upon delivery of such debenture.

We may arrange for a third party to purchase any debentures for which we receive a valid repurchase notice that is not withdrawn, in the manner and otherwise in compliance with the requirements set forth in the indenture applicable to the offer to repurchase the debentures. If a third party purchases any debentures under these circumstances, then interest will continue to accrue on those debentures and those debentures will continue to be outstanding after the repurchase date. The third party subsequently may resell those purchased debentures to other holders, and those debentures will be fungible with all other debentures then outstanding. If the holder who has delivered a repurchase notice fails to deliver the debentures to the third party on or before the repurchase date, then the third party that intended to repurchase the bonds will be released from its obligations to do so and the holder who delivered the repurchase notice but failed to deliver the debentures will have no further rights under the indenture to require repurchase by us or by the third party with respect to that repurchase notice.

Our ability to repurchase debentures for cash may be limited by restrictions on our ability to obtain funds for such repurchase through dividends from our subsidiaries and the terms of our then existing borrowing agreements. We cannot assure you that we would have the financial resources, or would be able to arrange financing, to pay the purchase price in cash for all the debentures that might be delivered by holders of debentures seeking to exercise the repurchase right. See Risk Factors We may not have sufficient cash to purchase the debentures if you exercise your option to require us to purchase the debentures.

33

## **Table of Contents**

# Repurchase at Option of Holders Upon a Change in Control

If a change in control as defined below occurs, holders will have the right, at their option, to require us to repurchase all of their debentures not previously called for redemption, or any portion of the principal amount thereof, that is equal to \$1,000 or an integral multiple of \$1,000. The price we are required to pay is 100% of the principal amount of the debentures to be repurchased, together with accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, to, but excluding, the repurchase date.

At our sole option, we may elect to pay the repurchase price for any debentures submitted for repurchase by us in cash, in shares of our common stock or a combination of shares of our common stock and cash. The number of shares of our common stock a holder will receive will equal the relevant amount of the purchase price divided by 95% of the average of the sale prices of our common stock for the five trading days immediately preceding and including the third business day immediately preceding the repurchase date. We may only pay the repurchase price in common stock if we satisfy conditions similar to those described under Repurchase Rights with respect to the repurchase of debentures by us on October 1, 2013, October 1, 2018, October 1, 2023 or October 1, 2028.

Within 30 days after the occurrence of a change in control, we are obligated to give each holder of debentures notice of the change in control and of the repurchase right arising as a result of the change in control. We must also deliver a copy of this notice to the trustee. To exercise the repurchase right, a holder must deliver on or before the 30th day after the date of our notice irrevocable written notice to the trustee of such holder s exercise of its repurchase right, and if the debenture is a definitive debenture, together with the debentures with respect to which the right is being exercised. We are required to repurchase the debentures on the date that is 45 days after the date of our notice.

A change in control will be deemed to have occurred at any time that any of the following occurs:

any person acquires beneficial ownership, directly or indirectly, through a purchase, merger or other acquisition transaction or series of transactions, of shares of our capital stock entitling the person to exercise 50% or more of the total voting power of all shares of our capital stock that are entitled to vote generally in elections of directors, other than an acquisition by us, any of our subsidiaries or any of our employee benefit plans; or

we merge or consolidate with or into any other person, any merger of another person into us or we convey, sell, transfer or lease all or substantially all of our assets to another person, other than any such transaction:

that does not result in any reclassification, conversion, exchange or cancellation of outstanding shares of our capital stock; or

pursuant to which the holders of shares of our capital stock entitled to vote generally in elections of directors immediately prior to such transaction have the entitlement to exercise, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the total voting power of all shares of capital stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors of the continuing or surviving corporation immediately after such transaction; or

which is effected solely to change our jurisdiction of incorporation and results in a reclassification, conversion or exchange of outstanding shares of our common stock solely into shares of common stock of the surviving entity.

However, a change in control will not be deemed to have occurred if:

the sale price of our common stock for any five trading days within the period of 10 consecutive trading days ending immediately after the later of the change in control or the public announcement of the change in control, in the case of a change in control relating to an acquisition of capital stock, or the period of 10 consecutive trading days ending immediately before the change in control, in the case of a change in control relating to a merger, consolidation or asset sale, equals or exceeds 105% of the conversion price of the debentures in effect on each of those five trading days; or

34

### **Table of Contents**

at least 90% of the consideration, excluding cash payments for fractional shares of our common stock and cash payments made pursuant to dissenters appraisal rights, in a merger or consolidation otherwise constituting a change in control under the first and second bullet points in the preceding paragraph above consists of shares of common stock, depository receipts or other certificates representing common equity interests traded on a national securities exchange or quoted on the Nasdaq National Market, or will be so traded or quoted immediately following such merger or consolidation, and as a result of such merger or consolidation the debentures become convertible solely into such common stock, depository receipts or other certificates representing common equity interests.

For purposes of these provisions:

the conversion price is equal to \$1,000 divided by the conversion rate;

whether a person is a beneficial owner will be determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act; and

a person includes any syndicate or group that would be deemed to be a person under Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act.

We may arrange for a third party to make an offer to repurchase the debentures upon a change in control in the manner and otherwise in compliance with the requirements set forth in the indenture applicable to the offer to repurchase the debentures validly tendered and not withdrawn under the terms of the offer to repurchase the debentures.

The rules and regulations promulgated under the Exchange Act require the dissemination of prescribed information to security holders in the event of an issuer tender offer and may apply in the event that the repurchase option becomes available to you. We will comply with these rules to the extent they apply at that time.

The definition of change in control includes a phrase relating to the conveyance, sale, transfer or lease of all or substantially all of our assets. There is no precise, established definition of the phrase substantially all under applicable law. Accordingly, your ability to require us to repurchase your debentures as a result of the conveyance, sale, transfer or lease of less than all of our assets may be uncertain.

The foregoing provisions would not necessarily provide you with protection if we are involved in a highly leveraged or other transaction that may adversely affect you. For example, we could, in the future, enter into transactions, including recapitalizations, that would not constitute a change in control but that would increase the amount of our indebtedness.

Although we have the right to repurchase the debentures with our common stock, subject to certain conditions, we cannot assure you that we would be able to meet those conditions or would have the financial resources, or would be able to arrange financing, to pay the repurchase price in cash for all the debentures that might be delivered by holders of debentures seeking to exercise the repurchase right. Moreover, a change in control could cause an event of default under, or be prohibited or limited by, the terms of our other debt. If we were to fail to repurchase the debentures when required following a change in control, an event of default under the indenture would occur. Any such default may, in turn, cause an event of default under our other debt.

### Mergers and Sales of Assets by Bowne

We may not consolidate with or merge into any other person or convey, transfer, sell or lease our properties and assets substantially as an entirety to any person, and we may not permit any entity to consolidate with or merge into us or convey, transfer, sell or lease such person s properties and assets substantially as an entirety to us unless:

the surviving entity formed by such consolidation or into or with which we are merged or the surviving entity to which our properties and assets are so conveyed, transferred, sold or leased, shall be a corporation, limited liability company, partnership or trust organized and existing under the laws of the

35

### **Table of Contents**

U.S., any state within the U.S. or the District of Columbia and, if we are not the surviving entity, the surviving entity executes and files with the trustee a supplemental indenture assuming the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the debentures and the performance of our other covenants under the indenture; and

immediately after giving effect to the transaction, no event of default, and no event that, after notice or lapse of time or both, would become an event of default, will have occurred and be continuing.

### **Events of Default**

The following will be events of default under the indenture:

we fail to pay the principal of or premium, if any, on any debenture at maturity, upon redemption, repurchase or following a change in control, when the same becomes due and payable, whether or not prohibited by the subordination provisions of the indenture;

we fail to pay any interest, including any additional interest, on any debenture when due, which failure continues for 30 days, whether or not prohibited by the subordination provisions of the indenture;

we fail to provide notice of a change in control as required by the indenture;

we fail to satisfy our conversion obligation upon exercise of a holder s conversion right, unless such default is cured within five business days after written notice of default is given by us to the trustee or the holder of such debenture;

we fail to perform any other covenant in the indenture, which failure continues for 60 days after written notice to us by the trustee or to us and the trustee by the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of outstanding debentures;

any indebtedness under any bonds, debentures, notes or other evidences of indebtedness for money borrowed, or any guarantee thereof, by us or any of our significant subsidiaries, in an aggregate principal amount in excess of \$15.0 million is not paid when due either at its stated maturity or upon acceleration thereof, and such indebtedness is not discharged, or such acceleration is not rescinded or annulled, within a period of 30 days after notice as provided in the indenture; and

certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization involving us or any of our significant subsidiaries.

The term *significant subsidiary* shall have the meaning set forth in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X.

Subject to the provisions of the indenture relating to the duties of the trustee in case an event of default shall occur and be continuing, the trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the indenture at the request or direction of any holder, unless the holder shall have furnished indemnity reasonably satisfactory to the trustee. Subject to providing indemnification to the trustee and other conditions provided for in the indenture, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debentures will have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred on the trustee.

If an event of default other than an event of default arising from events of insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization with respect to Bowne occurs and is continuing, either the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the outstanding debentures may accelerate the maturity of all debentures; *provided* that so long as any indebtedness incurred pursuant to our revolving credit facility is outstanding, such acceleration will not be effective until the earlier of (1) the acceleration of such indebtedness under our revolving credit facility or (2) five business days after receipt by the senior debt representative for the revolving credit facility of written notice of such acceleration. However, after such acceleration, but before a judgment or decree based on acceleration, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of outstanding debentures may, under certain circumstances, rescind and annul the acceleration if all events of default, other than the nonpayment of principal of the debentures that have become due solely by such declaration of acceleration, have been cured or waived as provided in the indenture. If an event of default arising from events of insolvency, bankruptcy or

36

# **Table of Contents**

reorganization with respect to Bowne occurs, then the principal of, and accrued interest on, all the debentures will automatically become immediately due and payable without any declaration or other act on the part of the holders of the debentures or the trustee. For information as to waiver of defaults, see Meetings, Modification and Waiver below.

A holder will not have any right to institute any proceeding with respect to the indenture, or for any remedy under the indenture, unless:

the holder gives the trustee written notice of a continuing event of default;

the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debentures have made written request and offered indemnity reasonably satisfactory to the trustee to institute proceedings;

the trustee shall have failed to institute such a proceeding within 60 days of the written request; and

the trustee has not received during such 60 day period from the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debentures a direction inconsistent with the written request.

However, these limitations do not apply to a suit instituted by a holder for the enforcement of payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest, including additional interest, on its debenture on or after the respective due dates expressed in its debenture or its right to convert its debenture in accordance with the indenture.

We are required to furnish to the trustee annually a statement as to our performance of our obligations under the indenture and as to any default in that performance.

#### Meetings, Modification and Waiver

The indenture contains provisions for convening meetings of the holders of debentures to consider matters affecting their interests.

Limited modifications of the indenture may be made without the necessity of obtaining the consent of the holders of the debentures. We and the trustee may amend or supplement the indenture or the debentures without notice to or the consent of the debenture holders to:

provide for our successor pursuant to a merger, consolidation or sale of assets;

provide for a successor trustee with respect to the indenture and the debentures;

cure any ambiguity or correct or supplement any provision in the indenture which may be defective or inconsistent with any other provision; *provided* that such modification will not adversely affect the interests of the holders of the debentures;

add to our covenants for the benefit of the holders of all or any of the debentures or to surrender any right or power conferred upon us by the indenture;

secure the debentures;

make any change that does not adversely affect any outstanding debentures;

increase the conversion rate or reduce the conversion price; *provided* that the increase or reduction, as the case may be, is in accordance with the terms of the indenture or will not adversely affect the interests of the holders of the debentures; or

comply with requirements of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission in order to effect or maintain the qualification of the indenture under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.

37

# **Table of Contents**

Other modifications and amendments of the indenture may be made, compliance by us with certain restrictive provisions of the indenture may be waived and any past defaults by us under the indenture (except a default in the payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest) may be waived, either:

with the written consent of the holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the debentures at the time outstanding; or

by the adoption of a resolution, at a meeting of holders of the debentures at which a quorum is present, by the holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the debentures at the time outstanding represented at such meeting.

The quorum at any meeting called to adopt a resolution will be persons holding or representing a majority in aggregate principal amount of the debentures at the time outstanding and, at any reconvened meeting adjourned for lack of a quorum, 25% of such aggregate principal amount.

However, a modification or amendment requires the consent of the holder of each outstanding debenture affected by such change if it would:

change the stated maturity of the principal of or interest on a debenture;

reduce the principal amount of, or any premium or interest on, any debenture;

reduce the amount payable upon a redemption or mandatory repurchase;

modify the provisions with respect to the repurchase rights of holders of debentures in a manner adverse to the holders;

modify the subordination provisions of the debentures in a manner adverse to the holders;

modify our right to redeem the debentures in a manner adverse to the holders;

change the place or currency of payment on a debenture;

impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on any debenture;

adversely affect the right to convert the debentures, other than a modification or amendment required by the terms of the indenture;

modify our obligation to deliver information required under Rule 144A to permit resales of the debentures and common stock issued upon conversion of the debentures if we cease to be subject to the reporting requirements under the Exchange Act;

reduce the percentage of the principal amount of the holders whose consent is needed to modify or amend the indenture;

reduce the percentage of the principal amount of the holders whose consent is needed to waive compliance with provisions of the indenture or to waive defaults; or

reduce the percentage required for the adoption of a resolution or the quorum required at any meeting of holders of debentures at which a resolution is adopted.

### **Registration Rights**

We have entered into a registration rights agreement with the Initial Purchasers. In the registration rights agreement we agree, for the benefit of the holders of the debentures and the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures, commonly referred to as the registrable securities, that we will, at our expense:

file with the SEC, within 90 days after the date the debentures are originally issued, a shelf registration statement covering resales of the registrable securities;

use our reasonable best efforts to cause the shelf registration statement to be declared effective under the Securities Act within 210 days after the date the debentures are originally issued, and

38

# **Table of Contents**

use our reasonable best efforts to keep effective the shelf registration statement until the earliest of (i) such time as there are no registrable securities outstanding; (ii) the expiration of the period referred to in Rule 144(k) of the Securities Act with respect to the debentures held by non-affiliates of Bowne; and (iii) two years after the date of the last issuance of the debentures.

We will be permitted to suspend the use of the prospectus that is part of the shelf registration statement in connection with the sale of registrable securities during prescribed periods of time for reasons relating to pending corporate developments, public filings with the SEC and other events. The periods during which we can suspend the use of the prospectus may not, however, exceed a total of 30 days in any 90-day period or a total of 90 days in any 12-month period. We will provide to each holder of registrable securities copies of the prospectus that is a part of the shelf registration statement, notify each holder when the shelf registration statement has been filed with the SEC and when the shelf registration statement has become effective and take certain other actions required to permit public resales of the registrable securities.

A registrable security will not be deemed to be outstanding at such time as it is no longer a restricted security as defined in the registration rights agreement. This generally will occur when it is sold under the shelf registration statement or otherwise is no longer subject to transfer restrictions under the Securities Act.

We may, upon written notice to all holders of debentures, postpone having the shelf registration statement declared effective for a reasonable period not to exceed 90 days if we possess material nonpublic information the disclosure of which would have a material adverse effect on us and our subsidiaries taken as a whole or would impede the consummation of a proposed or pending material business transaction. Notwithstanding any such postponement, additional interest, referred to as additional interest, will accrue with respect to the debentures and additional cash payments, referred to as additional cash amounts, will be payable with respect to shares of our common stock issued upon conversion of the debentures, in each case if either of the following registration defaults occurs:

on or prior to the 90th day following the date the debentures were originally issued, a shelf registration statement has not been filed with the SEC; or

on or prior to the 210th day following the date the debentures were originally issued, the shelf registration statement is not declared effective.

In that case, except as noted below, additional interest will accrue with respect to any debentures and additional cash amounts will accrue with respect to any shares of our common stock issued upon conversion of debentures, in either case, that are then restricted securities from and including the day following the registration default to but excluding the day on which the registration default has been cured. Additional interest and additional cash amounts will be paid semi-annually in arrears, with the first semi-annual payment due on the first interest payment date under the indenture following the date on which the additional interest or additional cash amount, as the case may be, began to accrue.

The rates at which additional interest and additional cash amounts will accrue will be:

0.25% of the principal amount per annum to and including the 90th day after the registration default; and

0.5% of the principal amount per annum from and after the 91st day after the registration default.

In the case of shares of our common stock issued on conversion of the debentures which are then restricted securities, any additional cash amounts will accrue with respect to each such share at the rates described above applied to the conversion price at which such share was issued upon conversion of the relevant debentures.

39

### **Table of Contents**

In addition, additional interest will accrue on any debentures and additional cash amounts will accrue with respect to any shares of common stock issued upon conversion of the debentures, in each case which are then registrable securities if:

the shelf registration statement ceases to be effective, or we otherwise prevent or restrict holders of registrable securities from making sales under the shelf registration statement, for more than 30 days, whether or not consecutive, during any 90-day period; or

the shelf registration statement ceases to be effective, or we otherwise prevent or restrict holders of registrable securities from making sales under the shelf registration statement, for more than 90 days, whether or not consecutive, during any 12-month period.

In either event, additional interest will accrue at a rate of 0.5% per annum with respect to any debentures and additional cash amounts will accrue at a rate of 0.5% per annum with respect to any shares of common stock issued upon conversion of the debentures, in each case which are then registrable securities, from the 31st day of the 90-day period or the 91st day of the 12-month period until the earlier of the following:

the time the shelf registration statement again becomes effective or the holders of registrable securities are again able to make sales under the shelf registration statement, depending on which event triggered the increase in interest rate; or

the earliest of (i) such time as there are no registrable securities outstanding; (ii) the expiration of the period referred to in Rule 144(k) of the Securities Act with respect to the debentures held by non-affiliates of Bowne; and (iii) two years after the date of the last issuance of the debentures.

A holder of registrable securities will not be entitled to additional interest or additional cash amounts unless the holder has properly provided all information requested by the notice and questionnaire substantially in the form of Annex A attached to this prospectus and described below prior to the date of the event requiring the payment of additional interest or additional cash amounts.

A holder who elects to sell any registrable securities pursuant to the shelf registration statement:

will be required to be named as a selling securityholder in the related prospectus;

may be required to deliver a prospectus to purchasers;

may be subject to civil liability provisions under the Securities Act in connection with those sales; and

will be bound by the provisions of the registration rights agreement that apply to a holder making such an election, including certain indemnification provisions.

We will mail a notice and questionnaire to the holders of registrable securities not less than 30 calendar days prior to the effective time we intend in good faith to have the shelf registration statement declared effective.

No holder of registrable securities will be entitled:

to be named as a selling security holder in the shelf registration statement as of the date the shelf registration statement is declared effective; or

to use the prospectus forming a part of the shelf registration statement for offers and resales of registrable securities at any time, unless such holder has returned a properly completed and signed notice and questionnaire to us by the deadline for response set forth in the notice and questionnaire.

Holders of registrable securities will, however, have at least 20 business days from the date on which the notice and questionnaire is first mailed to return a properly completed and signed notice and questionnaire to us.

Beneficial owners of registrable securities who have not returned a notice and questionnaire by the questionnaire deadline described above may receive another notice and questionnaire from us upon request. Following our receipt of a properly completed and signed notice and questionnaire, we will include the

40

#### **Table of Contents**

registrable securities covered thereby in the shelf registration statement. Under certain circumstances we may delay including in the shelf registration statement the registrable securities covered by a properly completed notice and questionnaire.

We will agree in the registration rights agreement to use our reasonable best efforts to cause the shares of common stock initially issuable upon conversion of the debentures to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange. However, if the common stock is not then listed on the New York Stock Exchange, we will use our reasonable best efforts to cause the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures to be quoted or listed on whichever stock exchange or trading system on which the common stock is then primarily traded, on or prior to effectiveness of the shelf registration statement.

This summary of certain provisions of the registration rights agreement is not complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, all the provisions of the registration rights agreement, a copy of which will be made available to beneficial owners of the debentures upon request to us.

#### **Notices**

Notices to holders of the debentures will be given by mail to the addresses as they appear in the security register. Notices will be deemed to have been given on the date of mailing.

Notice of a redemption of debentures will be given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the redemption date and will specify the redemption date. A notice of redemption of the debentures will be irrevocable.

### Satisfaction and Discharge

We may discharge our obligations under the indenture, except as to the right of conversion and certain other rights of holders specified in the indenture, while debentures remain outstanding if (1) all outstanding debentures have or will become due and payable at their scheduled maturity within one year or (2) all outstanding debentures are scheduled for redemption within one year, and, in either case, we have deposited with the trustee an amount sufficient to pay and discharge all outstanding debentures on the date of their scheduled maturity or the scheduled date of redemption.

# **Payment of Stamp and Other Taxes**

We will pay all stamp and other duties, if any, that may be imposed by the U.S. or any political subdivision thereof or taxing authority thereof or therein with respect to the issuance of the debentures or of shares of common stock upon conversion of the debentures, unless the tax is due because the holder requests the shares to be issued or delivered to a person other than the holder, in which case the holder will pay the tax. We will not be required to make any payment with respect to any other tax, assessment or governmental charge imposed by any government or any political subdivision thereof or taxing authority thereof or therein.

### **Governing Law**

The indenture, the debentures, and the registration rights agreement are governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, United States of America, without regard to conflicts of laws principles thereof.

#### The Trustee

If an event of default occurs and is continuing, the trustee is required to use the degree of care of a prudent person in the conduct of his own affairs in the exercise of its powers. Subject to that provision, the trustee is under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the indenture at the request of any of the holders of debentures, unless they shall have furnished to the trustee security or indemnity reasonably satisfactory to the trustee. The trustee or its affiliates may from time to time in the future provide banking and other services to us in the ordinary course of business.

41

# **Table of Contents**

# **Calculations in Respect of the Debentures**

We are responsible for making many of the calculations called for under the debentures. These calculations include, but are not limited to, determination of the sale price of our common stock, adjustments to the conversion rate and amounts of additional interest, if any, payable on the debentures. We will make all these calculations in good faith and, absent manifest error, our calculations will be final and binding on the holders of debentures. We will provide a schedule of our calculations to the trustee, and the trustee is entitled to rely conclusively on the accuracy of our calculations without independent verification.

42

#### **Table of Contents**

# DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

Our authorized capital stock consists of 60,000,000 shares of common stock, \$.01 par value per share, and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, \$.01 par value per share, in one or more series, none of which have been issued. As of January 8, 2004 there were 34,049,451 shares of common stock outstanding and no shares of preferred stock outstanding. As of the same date, there are also outstanding 34,049,451 rights to purchase Series B Preferred Stock, \$.01 par value per share.

#### **Common Stock**

The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders and do not have cumulative voting rights. Accordingly, holders of a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote in any election of directors may elect all of the directors standing for election. Subject to preferences that may be applicable to any outstanding shares of preferred stock, the holders of common stock are entitled to receive ratably such dividends as may be declared by the board of directors out of funds legally available for distribution. Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of our common stock are entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of liabilities and the liquidation preferences of any outstanding shares of preferred stock. Holders of common stock have no preemptive rights and no right to convert their common stock into any other securities. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to our common stock. All outstanding shares of common stock are, and all shares of common stock that may be issued upon conversion or repurchase of the debentures will be, fully paid and non-assessable.

### Preferred Stock

Under our certificate of incorporation, our board of directors is authorized, without further action by the stockholders, to determine the powers, rights and preferences, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of the shares of any series, and the number of shares constituting any series.

The issuance of preferred stock could adversely affect the voting power of holders of common stock, which, together with the likelihood that holders of preferred stock will receive dividend payments and payments upon liquidation, may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company, which could depress the trading price of the securities being offered by this prospectus.

#### Anti-Takeover Effects of Provisions of Delaware Law and Our Charter Documents

Delaware Takeover Statute. We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. In general, the statute prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. For purposes of Section 203, a business combination includes a merger, asset sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder, and an interested stockholder is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns (or within three years prior, did own) 15% or more of the corporation s outstanding voting stock.

Charter Documents. Our certificate of incorporation requires that any action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders and may not be effected by a consent in writing. Additionally, our certificate of incorporation:

provides for a classified board of directors;

provides that directors may be removed only for cause;

provides that the board may appoint new directors to fill vacancies or newly created directorships;

provides that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by a resolution adopted by a majority of the entire board of directors; and

authorizes our board of directors to issue preferred stock, which may have voting rights and, which, if convertible into common stock, could increase the number of shares of common stock outstanding.

7.

# **Table of Contents**

# **Stockholder Rights Agreement**

In 1998, we adopted a stockholder rights agreement. The rights agreement is designed to protect our stockholders in the event of an unsolicited unfair offer to acquire us and to encourage a potential bidder to negotiate with our board of directors. Under the rights agreement, each outstanding common share is entitled to one right which is evidenced by the common stock certificate. Each right entitles the registered holder to purchase from us one-thousandth of a share of Series B Preferred Stock. The purchase price will initially be \$125.00 per one-thousandth of a share, subject to adjustment from time to time. Each share of Series B Preferred Stock will be entitled, when, as and if declared, to a minimum preferential quarterly dividend payment of \$100 per share but will be entitled to an aggregate dividend of 1,000 times the dividend declared per share of common stock. In the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Bowne, the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock will be entitled to a minimum preferential liquidation payment of \$100.00 per share (plus any accrued but unpaid dividends) but will be entitled to an aggregate payment of 1,000 times the payment made per share of common stock. Each share of Series B Preferred Stock will have 1,000 votes, voting together with the common stock. Finally, in the event of any merger, consolidation or other transaction in which shares of common stock are converted or exchanged, each share of Series B Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive 1,000 times the amount received per share of common stock. These rights are protected by customary antidilution provisions. Furthermore, in the event that any person or group of affiliated or associated persons becomes an acquiring person, each holder of a right, other than rights beneficially owned by the acquiring person, will thereafter have the right to receive upon exercise of a right and payment of the purchase price, the number of shares of common stock having a market value of two times the purchase price. The rights are redeemable by us under certain circumstances at a redemption price of \$.01 per right. The rights will expire on January 30, 2007, unless the expiration date is advanced or extended or unless the rights are earlier redeemed or exchanged by us.

The provisions in the rights plan would cause an unapproved takeover to be much more expensive to a potential acquirer, resulting in a strong incentive for the potential acquirer to negotiate with our board of directors to redeem the rights or approve the transaction instead of pursuing a hostile strategy.

### **Transfer Agent and Registrar**

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is The Bank of New York, 101 Barclay Street, New York, NY 10286. Its telephone number is 212-815-4019, and its web site is www.bankofny.com.

44

#### **Table of Contents**

### SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS

The debentures were originally issued to the Initial Purchasers in a private offering that closed on September 24, 2003. The Initial Purchasers have advised us that the debentures were resold in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act to qualified institutional buyers, as defined by Rule 144A under the Securities Act. Selling securityholders, including their transferees, pledgees, donees or successors, may from time to time offer and sell pursuant to this prospectus any or all of the debentures and the common stock into which the debentures are convertible.

The table below sets forth information with respect to the selling securityholders, the principal amount of the debentures and the number of shares of common stock into which the debentures are convertible beneficially owned by each selling securityholder that may be offered pursuant to this prospectus. Unless set forth below, none of the selling securityholders has had within the past three years any material relationship with us or any of our predecessors or affiliates.

We have prepared the table based on information given to us by, or on behalf of, the selling securityholders on or before January 8, 2004. Because the selling securityholders may offer, pursuant to this prospectus, all or some portion of the debentures or common stock listed below, no estimate can be given as to the amount of debentures or common stock that will be held by the selling securityholders upon consummation of any sales. In addition, the selling securityholders listed in the table may have sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of, in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, some or all of their debentures since the date as of which the information in the table is presented.

Information about the selling securityholders may change over time. Any changed information given to us by the selling securityholders will be set forth in prospectus supplements or amendments to this prospectus if and when necessary.

	Original Principal Amount of Debentures		Percentage of Debentures Outstanding	Number of Shares of Common Stock That May be Sold(1)	Percentage of  Common Stock Outstanding(2)(3)
	Beneficially Owned and Offered				
Selling Securityholder					
Arkansas PERS	\$	1,090,000	1.5%	58,982	*
Arkansas Teacher Retirement		2,925,000	3.9%	158,279	*
Astrazeneca Holdings Pension		490,000	*	26,515	*
ATSF Transamerica Convertible					
Securities		12,500,000	16.7%	676,407	1.9%
Baptist Health of Florida		410,000	*	22,186	*
Boilermakers Blacksmith Pension Trust		1,385,000	1.8%	74,945	*
Calamos Convertible Fund Calamos®					
Investment Trust		7,500,000	10.0%	405,844	1.2%
Delaware PERS		1,565,000	2.1%	84,686	*
Delta Airlines Master Trust		55,000	*	2,976	*
Duke Endowment		260,000	*	14,069	*
Engineers Joint Pension Fund		275,000	*	14,880	*
Froley Revy Investment Convertible					
Security Fund		150,000	*	8,116	*
ICI American Holdings Trust		355,000	*	19,209	*
IDEX Transamerica Convertible					
Securities Fund		7,000,000	9.3%	378,788	1.1%
			45		

Original Principal

# **Table of Contents**

	Original Principal Amount of Debentures Beneficially	Percentage	Number of Shares of Common Stock That May be Sold(1)	Percentage of  Common Stock Outstanding(2)(3)
		of		
	Owned and	Debentures		
Selling Securityholder	Offered	Outstanding		
Nicholas Applegate Capital				
Management Convertible & Income				
(CV)	5,000,000	6.7%	270,563	*
Nicholas Applegate Capital				
Management Convertible & Income 2				
(CV)	3,000,000	4.0%	162,337	*
Nicholas Applegate Capital				
Management Convertible Mutual Fund	505,000	*	27,326	*
Nuveen Preferred & Convertible				
Income Fund JPC	6,000,000	8.0%	324,675	*
Nuveen Preferred & Convertible Fund				
JQC	8,900,000	11.9%	481,602	1.4%
Prudential Insurance Co of America	95,000	*	5,140	*
San Diego City Retirement	590,000	*	31,926	*
San Diego County Convertible	1,260,000	1.7%	68,181	*
State of Oregon/Equity	4,900,000	6.5%	265,151	*
Stonebridge Life Insurance	500,000	*	27,056	*
Syngenta AG	260,000	*	14,069	*
Transamerica Insurance Company of				
Iowa	500,000	*	27,056	*
Transamerica Life Insurance and				
Annuities Corporation	5,000,000	6.7%	270,563	*
Transamerica Occidental Life	1,000,000	1.3%	54,112	*
Wake Forest University	385,000	*	20,833	*
Wyoming State Treasurer	650,000	*	35,173	*
Unnamed securityholders or any future				
transferees, pledgees, donees or				
successors of or from any such				
unnamed securityholders(4)	495,000	*	26,800	*
Total	75,000,000	100%	4,058,445	10.6%

<sup>\*</sup> Less than 1%.

46

<sup>(1)</sup> Assumes conversion of all of the holder s debentures at a conversion rate of 54.1126 shares of common stock per \$1,000 original principal amount of the debentures. This conversion rate is subject to adjustment as described under Description of Debentures Conversion Rate Adjustments. As a result, the number of shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures may increase in the future. Excludes shares of common stock that may be issued by us upon the repurchase of the debentures and fractional shares. Holders will receive a cash adjustment for any fractional share amount resulting from conversion of the debentures, as described under Description of Debentures Conversion Rights.

<sup>(2)</sup> Calculated based on 34,049,451 shares of common stock outstanding as of January 8, 2004. In calculating this amount for each holder, we treated as outstanding the number of shares of common stock

# **Table of Contents**

issuable upon conversion of all of that holder s debentures, but we did not assume conversion of any other holder s debentures.

- (3) Assumes that all holders of debentures, or any future transferees, pledgees, donees or successors of or from such holders of debentures, do not beneficially own any common stock other than the common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures at the initial conversion rate.
- (4) Additional information about selling securityholders will be set forth in prospectus supplement or amendments to this prospectus if and when necessary.

#### RECENT AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING SENIOR INDEBTEDNESS

On September 16, 2003, we entered into a second amendment for our revolving credit facility that, among other things:

provided for the permanent reduction of the credit facility by at least \$50 million to the extent we use the net proceeds from this offering to reduce our borrowings under that facility;

modified our permitted leverage ratio under the revolving credit facility; and

added provisions relating to repayment and modification of subordinated debt, and approved the subordination provisions of the debentures being offered in this prospectus.

Our \$75.0 million in aggregate principal amount of senior notes consists of three tranches: \$25.0 million of 6.90% senior notes due January 30, 2007, \$28.0 million 7.31% senior notes due January 30, 2012 and \$22.0 million 7.85% senior notes due January 30, 2012. Due to the impact of the continued economic downturn on our business, in March 2003 we modified certain financial covenant requirements and definitions under the senior notes. On September 17, 2003, we entered into a third amendment for our senior notes that, among other things:

made the existing temporary increase in interest rates permanent;

made a new temporary increase in interest rates of 10 basis points, which will remain in effect until we obtain an investment grade rating with respect to the senior notes;

required us to make an offer to repurchase up to \$25.0 million of the senior notes at par with the net proceeds from this offering, which offer has expired, and as of October 14, 2003, \$15.0 million of the senior notes have been tendered for repurchase;

gave the holders of senior notes a put option exercisable during the six months immediately prior to October 1, 2008, the first date on which holders of the debentures issued in this offering may require us to repurchase debentures;

adjusted the fixed charge coverage ratio test to be 1.50 to 1.00 beginning as of the fourth quarter 2003 and for the remaining life of the senior notes;

added a debt to EBITDA ratio test of 3.25 to 1.00 and a senior debt to EBITDA ratio test of 2.50 to 1.00 in the covenant that limits our ability to incur indebtedness; and

removed a \$25.0 million dollar limitation on potential acquisitions consummated before March 31, 2004.

47

#### **Table of Contents**

# CERTAIN UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

The following summary describes the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the ownership of debentures and, with respect to non-U.S. holders (as defined below), the shares of common stock into which the debentures may be converted, as of the date hereof. Except where noted, it deals only with debentures and shares of common stock held as capital assets. This summary does not deal with special situations, such as:

tax consequences to holders who may be subject to special tax treatment, such as dealers in securities or currencies, financial institutions, regulated investment companies, real estate investment trusts, tax-exempt entities, insurance companies, or traders in securities that elect to use a mark-to-market method of accounting for their securities holdings;

tax consequences to persons holding debentures as a part of a hedging, integrated, conversion or constructive sale transaction or a straddle;

tax consequences to U.S. holders (as defined below) of debentures or shares of common stock whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar;

investors in pass-through entities;

alternative minimum tax consequences, if any; and

any state, local or foreign tax consequences.

The discussion below is based upon the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code), and regulations, rulings and judicial decisions thereunder as of the date hereof, and such authorities may be repealed, revoked or modified, perhaps with retroactive effect, so as to result in U.S. federal income tax consequences different from those discussed below.

If a partnership holds debentures or shares of common stock, the tax treatment of a partner will generally depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. If you are a partner in a partnership holding the debentures or shares of common stock, you should consult your tax advisors.

If you are considering the purchase of debentures, you should consult your own tax advisors concerning the U.S. federal income tax consequences to you in light of your particular situation as well as any consequences arising under the laws of any state, local, foreign or other taxing jurisdiction.

As used herein, the term U.S. holder means a beneficial owner of debentures or shares of common stock that is for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

a citizen or resident of the U.S.;

a corporation or partnership created or organized in or under the laws of the U.S. or any political subdivision of the U.S.;

an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

a trust if it (i) is subject to the primary supervision of a court within the U.S. and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (ii) has a valid election in effect under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations to be treated as a U.S. person.

A non-U.S. holder is a beneficial owner of debentures or shares of common stock that is not a U.S. holder. Special rules may apply to certain non-U.S. holders such as controlled foreign corporations, passive foreign investment companies and foreign personal holding companies. Such entities should consult their own tax advisors to determine the U.S. federal, state, local and other tax consequences that may be relevant to them.

# Consequences to U.S. Holders

# Payment of Interest

This discussion assumes that the debentures were not issued with more than a de minimis amount of original issue discount. In such case, interest on a debenture will generally be taxable to you as ordinary income at the time it is paid or accrued in accordance with your usual method of accounting for tax purposes.

48

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Constructive Dividend

The conversion rate of the debentures will be adjusted in certain circumstances. Under Section 305(c) of the Code, adjustments (or failures to make adjustments) that have the effect of increasing your proportionate interest in our assets or earnings may in some circumstances result in a deemed distribution to you. Adjustments to the conversion rate made pursuant to a bona fide reasonable adjustment formula that has the effect of preventing the dilution of the interest of the holders of the debentures, however, will generally not be considered to result in a deemed distribution to you. Certain of the possible conversion rate adjustments provided in the debentures (including, without limitation, adjustments in respect of taxable dividends to holders of our common stock) will not qualify as being pursuant to a bona fide reasonable adjustment formula. If such adjustments are made, the U.S. holders of debentures will be deemed to have received a distribution even though they have not received any cash or property as a result of such adjustments. Any deemed distributions will be taxable as a dividend, return of capital, or capital gain in accordance with the earnings and profits rules under the Code. It is unclear whether a constructive dividend deemed paid to holders would be eligible for the preferential rates of U.S. federal income tax applicable in respect of certain dividends under recently enacted legislation and whether corporate holders would be entitled to the dividends received deduction with respect to such dividends.

#### Market Discount

If you purchase a debenture for an amount that is less than its stated redemption price at maturity, the amount of the difference will be treated as market discount for United States federal income tax purposes, unless that difference is less than a specified de minimis amount. Under the market discount rules, you will be required to treat any payment, other than stated interest, on, or any gain on the sale, exchange, retirement or other disposition of, a debenture as ordinary income to the extent of the market discount that you have not previously included in income and are treated as having accrued on the debenture at the time of its payment or disposition. Any unrecognized market discount will carry over to common stock received upon conversion or repurchase by us of the debentures. In addition, you may be required to defer, until the maturity of the debenture or its earlier disposition in a taxable transaction, the deduction of all or a portion of the interest expense on any indebtedness attributable to the debenture.

Any market discount will be considered to accrue ratably during the period from the date of acquisition to the maturity date of the debenture, unless you elect to accrue on a constant interest method. Your election to accrue market discount on a constant interest method is to be made for the taxable year in which you acquired the debenture, applies only to that debenture, and may not be revoked without the consent of the Internal Revenue Service. You may elect to include market discount in income currently as it accrues, on either a ratable or constant interest method, in which case the rule described above regarding deferral of interest deductions will not apply. Your election to include market discount in income currently, once made, applies to all market discount obligations acquired by you on or after the first taxable year to which your election applies and may not be revoked without the consent of the Internal Revenue Service. You should consult your own tax advisor before making either election described in this paragraph.

#### Amortizable Bond Premium

If you purchase a debenture for an amount in excess of the sum of all amounts payable on the debenture after the purchase date other than stated interest, you will be considered to have purchased the debenture at a premium. You generally may elect to amortize the premium over the remaining term of the debenture on a constant yield method as an offset to interest when includible in income under your regular accounting method. If you do not elect to amortize bond premium, that premium will decrease the gain or increase the loss you would otherwise recognize on disposition of the debenture. Your election to amortize premium on a constant yield method will also apply to all debt obligations held or subsequently acquired by you on or after the first day of the first taxable year to which the election applies. You may not revoke the election without the consent of the Internal Revenue Service. You should consult your own tax advisor before making this election.

49

#### **Table of Contents**

### Sale, Exchange, Redemption, or Other Disposition of Debentures

Except as provided below under Conversion of Debentures into Common Stock, Cash or a Combination Thereof you will generally recognize gain or loss upon the sale, exchange, redemption, repurchase (including a repurchase by a third party, regardless of whether you receive cash, common stock or a combination thereof) or other disposition of a debenture equal to the difference between the amount realized (less accrued interest which will be taxable as such) upon the sale, exchange, redemption or other disposition and your adjusted tax basis in the debenture. Your tax basis in a debenture will generally be equal to the amount you paid for the debenture increased by market discount that you previously included in income and reduced by any amortized premium and any cash payments on the debenture other than stated interest. Except as described above with respect to market discount, any gain or loss recognized on a taxable disposition of the debenture will be capital gain or loss. If you are an individual and have held the debenture for more than one year, such capital gain will be subject to reduced rates of taxation. Your ability to deduct capital losses may be limited.

#### Conversion of Debentures Into Common Stock, Cash or a Combination Thereof

Neither gain nor loss will be recognized by holders on the exchange of debentures into shares of common stock upon conversion or repurchase by us (and not by a third party purchaser), except to the extent of cash received, if any, including any cash received in lieu of a fractional share and except to the extent of amounts received with respect to accrued interest, which will be taxable as such. If you receive solely cash in exchange for your debentures upon conversion or repurchase or if your debenture is repurchased by a third party, you will recognize gain or loss in an amount determined in the same manner as if you disposed of the debentures in a taxable disposition (as described above under Sale, Exchange, Redemption or other Disposition of Debentures ). If a combination of cash and stock is received in exchange for your debentures upon conversion or repurchase, we intend to take the position that gain, but not loss, will be recognized equal to the excess of the fair market value of the common stock and cash received (other than amounts attributable to accrued interest, which will be treated as such, and cash in lieu of a fractional share) over your adjusted tax basis in the debenture (excluding the portion of the tax basis attributable to the fractional share), but in no event should the gain recognized exceed the amount of cash received (other than cash attributable to accrued interest or received in lieu of a fractional share).

The amount of gain or loss recognized on the receipt of cash in lieu of a fractional share will be equal to the difference between the amount of cash you receive in respect of the fractional share and the portion of your adjusted tax basis in the debenture that is allocable to the fractional share. The tax basis of the shares of common stock received upon a conversion or repurchase (other than common stock attributable to accrued interest, the tax basis of which will equal its fair market value) will equal the adjusted tax basis of the debenture that was converted or repurchased (excluding the portion of the tax basis that is allocable to any fractional share), reduced by the amount of any cash received (other than cash received in lieu of a fractional share or cash attributable to accrued interest), and increased by the amount of gain, if any, recognized (other than with respect to a fractional share). Your holding period for shares of common stock will include the period during which you held the debentures except that the holding period of any common stock received with respect to accrued interest will commence on the day after the date of receipt. Upon a subsequent disposition of the common stock, a portion of any gain would be treated as ordinary income rather than capital gain to the extent of any accrued market discount on the converted debenture not previously included in income. You should consult your tax advisors regarding the tax treatment of the receipt of cash and stock in exchange for debentures upon conversion or repurchase and the ownership of our common stock.

# Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Information reporting requirements generally will apply to payments of interest on the debentures and dividends on shares of common stock and to the proceeds of a sale of a debenture or share of common stock paid to you unless you are an exempt recipient such as a corporation. A backup withholding tax will apply to those payments if you fail to provide your taxpayer identification number, or certification of exempt status, or if you fail to report in full interest and dividend income. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules will be allowed as a refund or a credit against your U.S. federal income tax liability provided the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.

50

### **Table of Contents**

### Consequences to Non-U.S. Holders

### Payments of Interest

The 30% U.S. federal withholding tax will not apply to any payment to you of interest on a debenture under the portfolio interest rule provided that:

interest paid on the debenture is not effectively connected with your conduct of a trade in the United States,

you do not actually or constructively own 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of our stock that are entitled to vote within the meaning of section 871(h)(3) of the Code;

you are not a controlled foreign corporation that is related to us (actually or constructively) through stock ownership;

you are not a bank whose receipt of interest on a debenture is described in section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code; and

(a) you provide your name and address, and certify, under penalties of perjury, that you are not a U.S. person (which certification may be made on an Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BEN (or successor form)) or (b) you hold your debentures through certain foreign intermediaries or certain foreign partnerships, and you satisfy the certification requirements of applicable Treasury regulations. Special rules apply to non-U.S. holders that are pass-through entities.

If you cannot satisfy the requirements described above, payments of interest will be subject to the 30% U.S. federal withholding tax, unless you provide us with a properly executed (1) Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BEN (or successor form) claiming an exemption from or reduction in withholding under the benefit of an applicable income tax treaty or (2) Internal Revenue Service Form W-8ECI (or successor form) stating that interest paid on the debenture is not subject to withholding tax because it is effectively connected with your conduct of a trade or business in the U.S. If you are engaged in a trade or business in the U.S. and interest on the debentures is effectively connected with the conduct of that trade or business then, although exempt from the withholding tax discussed above, you will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on that interest on a net income basis in the same manner as if you were a U.S. holder. In addition, if you are a foreign corporation, you may be subject to a branch profits tax equal to 30% (or lesser rate under an applicable income tax treaty) of your earnings and profits for the taxable year, subject to adjustments, that are effectively connected with your conduct of a trade or business in the U.S.

### Payments of Dividends

Any dividends paid to you with respect to the shares of common stock (and any deemed dividends resulting from certain adjustments, or failure to make adjustments, to the number of shares of common stock to be issued on conversion, see Constructive Dividend above) will be subject to withholding tax at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty. However, dividends that are effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business within the U.S. and, where a tax treaty applies, are attributable to a U.S. permanent establishment, are not subject to the withholding tax, but instead are subject to U.S. federal income tax on a net income basis at applicable graduated individual or corporate rates. Certain certification requirements and disclosure requirements must be complied with in order for effectively connected income to be exempt from withholding. Any such effectively connected income received by a foreign corporation may, under certain circumstances, be subject to an additional branch profits tax at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty.

A non-U.S. holder of shares of common stock who wishes to claim the benefit of an applicable treaty rate is required to satisfy applicable certification and other requirements. If you are eligible for a reduced rate of U.S. withholding tax pursuant to an income tax treaty, you may obtain a refund of any excess amounts withheld by filing an appropriate claim for refund with the Internal Revenue Service.

As described more fully under Description of the Debentures Registration Rights, upon the occurrence of certain enumerated events we may be required to pay additional amounts to you. Payments of such additional amounts may be subject to federal withholding.

51

### **Table of Contents**

### Sale, Exchange, Redemption or Other Disposition of Debentures or Shares of Common Stock

Any gain realized upon the sale, exchange, redemption or other disposition of a debenture or share of common stock generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax unless:

that gain is effectively connected with your conduct of a trade or business in the U.S.;

you are an individual who is present in the U.S. for 183 days or more in the taxable year of that disposition, and certain other conditions are met; or

we are or have been a U.S. real property holding corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

An individual non-U.S. holder described in the first bullet point above will be subject to tax on the net gain derived from the sale under regular graduated United States federal income tax rates. An individual non-U.S. holder described in the second bullet point above will be subject to a flat 30% tax on the gain derived from the sale, which may be offset by United States source capital losses (even though the individual is not considered a resident of the United States). If a non-U.S. holder that is a foreign corporation falls under the first bullet point above, it will be subject to tax on its gain under regular graduated United States federal income tax rates and, in addition, may be subject to the branch profits tax equal to 30% of its effectively connected earnings and profits or at such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty.

We believe that we are not and do not anticipate becoming a U.S. real property holding corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

### U.S. Federal Estate Tax

Your estate will not be subject to U.S. federal estate tax on debentures beneficially owned by you at the time of your death, provided that any payment to you on the debentures would be eligible for exemption from the 30% U.S. federal withholding tax under the portfolio interest rule described above under Consequences to Non-U.S. Holders Payments of Interest without regard to the statement requirement described in the last bullet point and, at the time of your death, payments with respect to the debenture would not have been effectively connected with the conduct by you of a trade or business in the U.S. However, shares of common stock held by you at the time of your death will be included in your gross estate for U.S. federal estate tax purposes unless an applicable estate tax treaty provides otherwise.

### Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

We must report annually to the Internal Revenue Service and to you the amount of interest and dividends paid to you and the amount of tax, if any, withheld with respect to those payments. Copies of the information returns reporting such interest, dividends and withholding may also be made available to the tax authorities in the country in which you reside under the provisions of an applicable income tax treaty. In general, you will not be subject to backup withholding with respect to payments of interest or dividends that we make to you, provided the statement described above in the last bullet point under Consequences to Non-U.S. Holders Payments of Interest has been received (and we do not have actual knowledge or reason to know that you are a U.S. person that is not an exempt recipient).

In addition, you will be subject to information reporting and, depending on the circumstances, backup withholding with respect to payments of the proceeds of the sale of a debenture or share of common stock within the U.S. or conducted through certain U.S.-related financial intermediaries, unless the statement described above has been received (and we do not have actual knowledge or reason to know that you are a U.S. person that is not an exempt recipient) or you otherwise establish an exemption.

Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules will be allowed as a refund or a credit against your U.S. federal income tax liability provided the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.

52

#### **Table of Contents**

### CERTAIN ERISA CONSIDERATIONS

The following is a summary of certain considerations associated with the purchase of the debentures (and the common stock issuable upon conversion or repurchase of the debentures) by employee benefit plans that are subject to Title I of the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ( ERISA ), plans, individual retirement accounts and other arrangements that are subject to Section 4975 of the Code or provisions under any federal, state, local, non-U.S. or other laws or regulations that are similar to such provisions of ERISA or the Code (collectively, Similar Laws ), and entities whose underlying assets are considered to include plan assets of such plans, accounts and arrangements (each, a Plan ).

### **General Fiduciary Matters**

ERISA and the Code impose certain duties on persons who are fiduciaries of a Plan subject to Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code (an ERISA Plan ) and prohibit certain transactions involving the assets of an ERISA Plan and its fiduciaries or other interested parties. Under ERISA and the Code, any person who exercises any discretionary authority or control over the administration of such an ERISA Plan or the management or disposition of the assets of such an ERISA Plan, or who renders investment advice for a fee or other compensation to such an ERISA Plan, is generally considered to be a fiduciary of the ERISA Plan.

In considering an investment in the debentures (and the common stock issuable upon conversion or repurchase of the debentures) of a portion of the assets of any Plan, a fiduciary should determine whether the investment is in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the Plan and the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code or any Similar Law relating to a fiduciary s duties to the Plan including, without limitation, the prudence, diversification, delegation of control and prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA, the Code and any other applicable Similar Laws.

#### **Prohibited Transaction Issues**

Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code prohibit ERISA Plans from engaging in specified transactions involving plan assets with persons or entities who are parties in interest, within the meaning of ERISA, or disqualified persons, within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code, unless an exemption is available. A party in interest or disqualified person who engaged in a non-exempt prohibited transaction may be subject to excise taxes and other penalties and liabilities under ERISA and the Code. In addition, the fiduciary of the ERISA Plan that engaged in such a non-exempt prohibited transaction may be subject to penalties and liabilities under ERISA and the Code. The acquisition and/or holding of the debentures and the common stock issuable upon conversion or repurchase of the debentures by an ERISA Plan with respect to which the issuer or the selling securityholder, as applicable, is considered a party in interest or a disqualified person may constitute or result in a direct or indirect prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA and/or Section 4975 of the Code, unless the investment is acquired and is held in accordance with an applicable statutory, class or individual prohibited transaction exemption. In this regard, the U.S. Department of Labor (the DOL ) has issued prohibited transaction class exemptions, or PTCEs, that may apply to the acquisition and holding of the debentures. These class exemptions include, without limitation, PTCE 84-14 respecting transactions determined by independent qualified professional asset managers, PTCE 90-1 respecting insurance company general accounts and PTCE 96-23 respecting transactions determined by in-house asset managers, although there can be no assurance that all of the conditions of any such exemptions will be satisfied.

### Plan Asset Issues

ERISA and the Code do not define plan assets. However, regulations (the Plan Asset Regulations) promulgated under ERISA by the DOL generally provide that when an ERISA Plan acquires an equity interest in an entity that is neither a publicly-offered security nor a security issued by an investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, the ERISA Plan s assets include both the equity interest and an undivided interest in each of the underlying assets of the entity unless it

53

### **Table of Contents**

is established either that equity participation in the entity by benefit plan investors is not significant or that the entity is an operating company, in each case as defined in the Plan Asset Regulations. Since the debentures may be converted into our common stock there can be no assurance that equity participation in us by benefit plan investors will not be significant. Although no assurance can be given in this regard, we believe that we qualify as an operating company and/or the common stock will qualify as a publicly-offered security.

### Plan Asset Consequences

If our assets were deemed to be plan assets under ERISA, however, this would result, among other things, in (i) the application of the prudence and other fiduciary responsibility standards of ERISA to investments made by us, and (ii) the possibility that certain transactions in which we might seek to engage could constitute prohibited transactions under ERISA and/or the Code.

Because of the foregoing, the debentures (and the common stock issuable upon conversion or repurchase of the debentures) should not be purchased or held by any person investing plan assets of any Plan, unless such purchase and holding will not constitute a non-exempt prohibited transaction under ERISA and the Code or a violation of any applicable Similar Laws.

### Representation

Accordingly, by acceptance of the debentures and the common stock issuable upon conversion or repurchase of the debentures, each purchaser and subsequent transferee of the debentures and the common stock will be deemed to have represented and warranted that either (A) no portion of the assets used by such purchaser or transferee to acquire and hold the debentures and common stock issuable on conversion or repurchase of the debentures constitutes assets of any Plan or (B) the purchase and holding of the debentures and the common stock issuable upon conversion or repurchase of the debentures by such purchaser or transferee will not constitute a non-exempt prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code or a violation under any applicable Similar Laws.

The foregoing discussion is general in nature and is not intended to be all-inclusive. Due to the complexity of these rules and the penalties that may be imposed upon persons involved in non-exempt prohibited transactions, it is particularly important that fiduciaries, or other persons considering purchasing the debentures on behalf of, or with the assets of, any Plan, consult with their counsel regarding the potential applicability of ERISA, Section 4975 of the Code and any Similar Laws to such investment and whether an exemption would be applicable to the purchase and holding of the debentures and the common stock issuable upon conversion or repurchase of the debentures.

54

#### **Table of Contents**

### PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We are registering the debentures and common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures covered by this prospectus to permit securityholders to conduct secondary trading of these securities from time to time after the date of this prospectus. We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the securities covered by this prospectus. The debentures and shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures are being offered on behalf of the selling securityholders.

The debentures and shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures may be sold or distributed from time to time by the selling securityholders, or by pledgees, donees or transferees of, or other successors in interest to, the selling securityholders, directly to one or more purchasers (including pledgees) or through brokers, dealers or underwriters who may act solely as agents or who may acquire the debentures or shares of common stock as principals, at market prices prevailing at the time of sale, at varying prices determined at the time of sale, at negotiated prices, or at fixed prices, which may be changed. If the debentures or shares of common stock are sold through brokers, dealers or underwriters, the selling securityholder will be responsible for underwriting discounts or commissions or agent s commissions. Unless otherwise permitted by law, if the debentures or shares are to be sold by pledgees, donees or transferees of, or other successors in interest to the selling securityholders, then we must distribute a prospectus supplement and/or file an amendment to this registration statement amending the list of selling securityholders to include the pledgee, transferee or other successors in interest as selling securityholders under this prospectus.

The sale of the debentures or shares of common stock may be effected in one or more of the following methods:

on any national securities exchange or quotation service on which the debentures or shares of common stock may be listed or quoted at the time of sale;

in transactions otherwise than on such exchanges or services in the over-the-counter market;

through the writing of options, whether the options are listed on an option exchange or otherwise; or

through the settlement of short sales.

In addition, any debentures or shares of common stock that qualify for resale pursuant to Rule 144 or Rule 144A of the Securities Act may be sold under Rule 144 or Rule 144A of the Securities Act rather than pursuant to this prospectus.

These transactions may include crosses or block transactions. Crosses are transactions in which the same broker acts as agent on both sides of the trade.

In addition, the selling securityholders or their successors in interest may enter into hedging transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions who may engage in short sales of the debentures or shares of common stock, sell the debentures or shares of common stock short and deliver these securities to close out such short positions, or loan or pledge the debentures or shares of common stock to broker-dealers that in turn may sell such securities. The selling securityholders or their successors in interest may also enter into option or other transactions with broker-dealers that require the delivery by such broker-dealers of the debentures or shares of common stock which may be resold thereafter pursuant to this prospectus if the debentures or shares of common stock are delivered by the selling securityholders.

The selling securityholders or their successors in interest may from time to time pledge or grant a security interest in some or all of the debentures or shares of common stock and, if the selling securityholders default in the performance of their secured obligation, the pledgees or secured parties may offer and sell the debentures or shares of common stock from time to time under this prospectus; however, in the event of a pledge or the default on the performance of a secured obligation by the selling securityholders, in order for the debentures or shares of common stock to be sold under this registration statement, unless permitted by law, we must distribute a prospectus supplement and/or an amendment to this registration statement amending the list of selling securityholders to include the pledgee, transferee, secured party or other successors in interest as selling securityholders under this prospectus.

## **Table of Contents**

Brokers, dealers, underwriters or agents participating in the distribution of the debentures or shares of common stock as agents may receive compensation in the form of commissions, discounts or concessions from the selling securityholders and/or purchasers of the debentures or shares of common stock for whom such broker-dealers may act as agent, or to whom they may sell as principal, or both (which compensation as to a particular broker-dealer may be less than or in excess of customary commissions).

The selling securityholders and any underwriters, broker-dealers or agents who act in connection with the sale of debentures or shares of common stock hereunder may be deemed to be underwriters within the meaning of the Securities Act, and any commissions they receive and proceeds of any sale of debentures or shares of common stock may be deemed to be underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act. Neither we nor any selling securityholder can presently estimate the amount of such compensation. We know of no existing arrangements between any selling securityholder, broker, dealer, underwriter or agent relating to the sale or distribution of the debentures or shares of common stock. Selling securityholders who are underwriters within the meaning of the Securities Act will be subject to the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act.

The anti-manipulation rules under the Exchange Act may apply to sales of debentures or shares of common stock in the market and to the activities of the selling securityholders and their affiliates.

Under the registration rights agreement that has been filed as an exhibit to this registration statement, we will use our reasonable best efforts to keep the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part effective until the earliest of (i) such time as there are no registrable securities outstanding; (ii) the expiration of the period referred to in Rule 144(k) of the Securities Act with respect to the debentures held by non-affiliates of Bowne; and (iii) two years after the date of the last issuance of the debentures.

We are permitted to prohibit offers and sales of securities pursuant to this prospectus under certain circumstances for a period not to exceed 30 days in any 90-day period and not to exceed an aggregate of 90 days in any 12-month period if the Board of Directors of the Company has determined in good faith that because of valid business reasons, including the acquisition or divestiture of assets, pending corporate developments and similar events, it is in the best interests of the Company to suspend use of this prospectus, we agreed to pay predetermined additional amounts to holders of the debentures and shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures if the prospectus is unavailable for the periods in excess of those permitted above.

Under the registration rights agreement, we have agreed to indemnify the initial purchaser, each selling securityholder and certain other persons, and each selling securityholder has agreed to indemnify us, the initial purchaser, the other selling securityholders and certain other persons, against certain specified liabilities, including liabilities arising under the Securities Act.

We have agreed, among other things, to bear all fees and expenses, other than selling expenses, commissions and discounts, and expenses of counsel to the selling securityholders, in connection with the registration and sale of the debentures and the shares of common stock covered by this prospectus.

# LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters with respect to the validity of the debentures and common stock issuable upon conversion of the debentures will be passed upon for us by Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP, New York, New York.

# INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of Bowne & Co., Inc. as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002, incorporated by reference in this prospectus, have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent auditors, as stated in their report that also is incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

56

# **Table of Contents**